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Monday, November 18, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


 MR. MORAN:  Good morning, everybody, and welcome to Motion Day and Settlement Proposal Presentation Day.  Before we carry on with the process why don't we deal with the Land Acknowledgement first.
Land Acknowledgement


MS. ING:  Good morning.  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of the many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Ing.  So, let me introduce the Panel first.  My name is Patrick Moran, I am the Presiding Commissioner today.  I am joined by my fellow Commissioner Allison Duff, Emad Elsayed, Anthony Zlahtic, and David Sword.  Could we take appearances next, please.

Appearances


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, Commissioner Moran.  Good morning, Commissioners.  I am David Stevens, I am counsel with Enbridge Gas.  With me today is Vanessa Innis, also with us today to assist with projecting exhibits, et cetera, are Laura Sheehan and Bonnie Adams.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson, on behalf of Environmental Defence.  Mr. Chair, were you just expecting us to jump in?  Because that is what I just did.  I hope that is okay.

MR. MORAN:  Given the virtual mode I think it is the only way we can do this.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, my name is Jay Shepherd, and I am counsel for the Heating Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Institute of Canada.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Brophy.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, sir.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users' Association.  Good morning, Commissioners.

MR. MORAN:  Good morning, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. LI:  Good morning.  Mr. Li, representing Building Owners and Managers Association.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Li.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken, on behalf of the London Property Management Association.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Aiken.

MS. WAINEWRIGHT:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Linda Wainewright, on behalf of Six Nations Natural Gas.

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Wainewright.

MR. ABU-ESEIFAN:  Good morning.  Khaled Abu-Eseifan, along with Jaya Chatterjee from Kitchener Utilities.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Abu-Eseifan.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Scott Pollock, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. MORAN:  Good morning.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Girvan.

MR. MILLAR:  I can jump in, Mr. Moran.  Good morning, Commissioners.  I am Michael Millar, counsel for OEB Staff, joined by my cocounsel Ian Richler.  There are a number of other staffers watching in, but I will perhaps put in an appearance for Mr. Viraney, who is the case manager.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. DAUBE:  Nick Daube here for Minogi Corp.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Daube.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, my name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am representing Energy Probe, Research Foundation

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. BUONARGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, I am counsel for Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers and Biogas Association.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  And I think Mr. McLeod's mic didn't come through, at least to me if he didn't realize it.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  And, Mr. McLeod, I see that your mic is muted but we recognize you.  All right.  I think that is everybody.

So, the first order of business is to deal with the motion brought by Environmental Defence seeking further information from Enbridge Gas.  We are going to hear submissions on the motion and then I think we will take a break at that time and then resume once we have had a chance to consider the motion and carry on with the presentation of the settlement proposal.  So, I think that means that you are up, Mr. Elson.
MOTION HEARING

Submissions by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have prepared some slides to help make my presentation, hopefully, somewhat clearer and to include some citations for a number of references that I will make, and so I believe I have just put that up on the screen.

As you know, Environmental Defence is seeking full and adequate -- a full and adequate interrogatory response to an interrogatory related to decoupling Enbridge's revenue from the number of customers that it serves.  In other words, it relates to whether Enbridge should be able to earn and retain all of the revenue from customers during the rate term from new customers and, in particular, whether that gives it too much an incentive to connect new customers and to dissuade existing customers from lowering their energy bills by electrifying their homes.  Environmental Defence believes this is an inappropriate incentive, and argues that Enbridge should be made indifferent with respect to customer counts from a revenue perspective.


The relevant interrogatory asks Enbridge to outline a number of options to implement this potential proposal in addition to the two implementation options outlined by Environmental Defence's expert.  The test, as you know, that the OEB will apply when considering whether to order an applicant to respond to an interrogatory is whether that interrogatory is relevant and whether it would require unreasonable efforts on the part of the applicant to answer.  To address that test I need to provide an overview of the substantive arguments that Environmental Defence will be making.  And I cite these points not to try to convince the OEB at this stage those arguments are correct, because that's a matter for the hearing, but as the basis for the relevance of the interrogatories and the importance of them being answered.

So, again, Enbridge has a strong incentive to connect as many buildings as possible and to dissuade existing customers from electrifying their homes.  And there are two main sources of this incentive, and only the second one is at issue here.

The first is that Enbridge earns a return on growth capital.  But this incentive is not addressed with the decoupling proposal.  The second aspect of the incentive is that Enbridge earns incremental revenue during the rate term from new customers and loses revenue when customers electrify their buildings and leave the system.  The decoupling proposal addresses this particular source of the customer growth incentive.

That aspect of the incentive is very significant, because Enbridge stands to earn approximately $280 million in incremental revenue over the rate term from net new customers.  And, again, that's just revenue during the rate term.  Although this is contested by Enbridge, in our view, this is largely a windfall, because it is far more than would we necessary to address the incremental costs associated with new customers that are not already accounted for in base rates.  This incentive is contrary to customer interests.  It promotes financial risk taking because it encourages Enbridge to convince as many developers to connect to its system as possible, even though this involves a major outlay in capital that increases rate base considerably, and does so at a time when there are significant risks of stranded assets, especially for new assets that have a higher remaining asset life and undepreciated balance.

Secondly, Enbridge has an incentive to discourage beneficial electrification.  Enbridge should not be incented to dissuade or prevent customers from switching to all electric heat pumps and that is contrary to customer interests because that switch can significantly lower energy bills as outlined in the evidence in this proceeding.

Thirdly, customer growth incentive -- the customer growth incentive is out of alignment with the most cost effective decarbonization pathways for buildings which involves electrification.  The only optimization study to determine the most cost effective pathway for decarbonization of buildings in Ontario found that electrifying almost all building heat is the most effective path to net zero in Ontario, and that path is not consistent with an incentive to grow the gas network perpetually and as much as possible.

And fourth, the incremental revenue is a windfall because it far exceeds the incremental costs from new customers that are not already included in base rates.

This incentive to grow customers is problematic in the gas context in a way that it is not problematic in the electricity context.  I think this is an important distinction.  There is a number of reasons for this; I won't go through all of them, but one obvious one is that the gas system is facing significant risks during the energy transition that the electricity system is not.  But also, all homes need electricity, whereas homes do not need gas, such that Enbridge can materially impact the number of developers that do connect to the gas system, and they certainly do this through their extensive contacts with developers, their networks with HVAC contractors in municipalities, for example, and it would be very much in the customer's interests for those interactions to take place on the basis of neutrality as opposed to the current strong interest in encouraging connections and discouraging beneficial electrification.

Neutrality would also benefit the regulatory and policy development process.  For example, when the OEB reevaluates the revenue horizon for gas connections pursuant to provincial directions down the road, it would be far better if Enbridge were neutral in the information it provides in that proceeding, rather than act as a strong advocate in favour of its self-interest and in achieving as many connections as possible.

I will move briefly to address only some of Enbridge's written submissions on the motion.  First, it argues that changing its incentives would undermine customer choice, but decoupling would achieve neutrality.  It would not put an end to gas connections, nor remove the obligation to serve.  This is not putting an end to connections.  It is removing Enbridge's strong incentive to push for as many developers to connect as possible.

This decoupling would have no negative impact on customer choice.  Actually, the opposite is true.  Customer choice would be enhanced if Enbridge were to no longer have an incentive to push one choice over the other, both to developers and to customers directly, and if Enbridge was more balanced in those interactions.  Furthermore, in the long run, removing the incentive will help safeguard a viable gas system by reducing costs and reducing risks.

Finally, when we speak of customer choice, it is important to recognize that over 90 percent of new connections are by developers, not by homeowners themselves.  Second, Enbridge cites provincial policy but does so selectively and, in our view, incorrectly.  Provincial policy is focused on affordability, which supports neutrality.  Enbridge refers to Ontario's Affordable Energy Future policy document, but this document is not about gas expansion.  Its focus is on electrification.  It talks about the largest competitive energy procurement in the country's history, the largest battery storage procurement in Canada's history, the largest expansion of nuclear energy on the continent, and expanding Ontario's transmission network with lines in all corners of the province.  It does not represent a policy in favour of giving Enbridge an incentive to expand the gas system perpetually.

Similar comments can be made about Ontario's Electrification and Energy Transition Panel.  As you know, this panel of experts was appointed by the provincial government, and Enbridge has quoted selectively from their final report, which, in fact, highlights the risks of stranded gas assets and the need for changes to regulatory mechanisms.  In our view, this is entirely consistent with removing the incentive to grow the customer base at this risky time, and in particular, removing the incentive to incur the high level of costs, the $250 million a year that that entails getting added to rate base.

For example, as shown on the slide here, the electrification panel found, and I quote:

"Emerging evidence shows that it is unlikely that the natural gas system can be fully decarbonized and continue to deliver cost-effective building heat."
Also, "There is a real risk of stranding assets in home heating and the gas distribution grid over the medium to long term, with significant risks to the customers, investors, and public finances."
Also, "It is in the interest of the province for the purpose of customer protection to ensure that the regulatory mechanisms for the governance of the natural gas grid are aligned with a range of plausible outcomes, notably those that pose the greatest risk to customers."

And in our submission, Enbridge's proposals with respect to IRM are not consistent with those recommendations.  Enbridge says that Environmental Defence's proposals are at odds with the renewed regulatory framework and that continued growth is consistent with the least cost decarbonization pathway.

I should move on in my submissions, but you can refer to this slide later, which has been filed, if these are comments which you would like to look into in more detail.

I have gone into the substance and justification for Environmental Defence's proposal to underpin a discussion of relevance and to show that this is a serious proposal connected to important issues.  Of course, we will have much more to say about the substance, and we have not addressed all of Enbridge's substantive comments on a revenue decoupling with respect to customer counts.  As I noted earlier, the key question to decide when considering whether to require an interrogatory to be answered is whether it is relevant.  Our interrogatory is clearly relevant.  The issue in question is the appropriateness of Enbridge's incentive rate-making mechanism that it has proposed.  That is the core issue in Phase II, and in our submission, Enbridge should not have a revenue incentive to convince as many developers to install gas as possible and to dissuade homeowners from pursuing beneficial electrification.

Environmental Defence is largely agnostic between the implementation options because there are a number of ways to achieve decoupling with respect to customer counts.  The Current Energy Group has proposed two implementation options with two hypothetical examples, but it is still relevant to ask Enbridge to outline implementation options for a number of reasons.  Number 1, the OEB should have the full range of options to consider.  Number 2, Enbridge is particularly well placed to put forward additional options for the OEB's consideration.  And number 3, implementation details could impact whether customer count decoupling is adopted at all.

Rule 27 also speaks to whether an interrogatory requires unreasonable efforts on the part of the Applicant to answer.  And in our submission, this request is not burdensome.  It is akin to examining the design of a new variance account, for example, which occurs frequently in OEB proceedings.  Furthermore, the question was posed over four months ago, and  Enbridge has had plenty of time to consider a response.  That said, Environmental Defence does not oppose Enbridge being provided more time, if they truly need it, nor would Environmental Defence oppose the hearing dates being moved or other adjustments being made to give Enbridge more time again if that were truly necessary, which we are not convinced is necessary, but we thought it was important to put our position on those issues on the record.

Finally, I will end with Enbridge's somewhat derisive assertion that Environmental Defence is asking Enbridge to do Environmental Defence's work.  That is not true.  Environmental Defence has done its work thus far, and will do its work at the hearing.  And it is merely seeking full engagement from Enbridge Gas on implementation options.

It is Enbridge that has the obligation and the onus to demonstrate that its rate proposals are just and reasonable, and that is clear from the OEB Handbook and the filing requirements, which both apply to this application and both clearly put the onus on the Applicant.

It is Enbridge that put forward a rate-making proposal that results in a large incentive to connect as many customers as possible and to dissuade customers from pursuing beneficial electrification, despite the ongoing energy transition, and even though that is not in the interest of customers.

Environmental Defence is challenging this aspect of Enbridge's proposals.  Ultimately, our position is that this incentive is contrary to customer interest and that Enbridge should be made neutral, but that does not create a reverse onus in this situation.  The normal rules apply, which means that Enbridge should answer the question because it is relevant and because it does not require unreasonable efforts in light of the importance of the issues.

In the Phase I decision, the OEB stated as follows:
"In the face of the energy transition, Enbridge Gas bears the onus to demonstrate that its proposed capital spending plan reflected in its asset management plan is prudent, having considered appropriately the risk arising from the energy transition."

The same reasoning applies here.  Enbridge bears the onus to demonstrate that its IRM proposals are prudent and have appropriately accounted for the risk arising from the energy transition.

Those are our main submissions in chief on the motion, but I will add a high-level comment for your consideration because, from what we have seen in recent years, we strongly believe that the OEB cannot be successful in preparing the gas system for the energy transition unless it addresses the incentives facing Enbridge, and particularly its incentive to perpetually grow the gas system and to convince as many developers to connect, and to discourage customers from beneficial electrification.

Enbridge can be directed to prioritize payers to pursue non-pipe alternatives, to analyze energy transition scenarios and so on.  But if its core incentives are not aligned with customer incentives, and with the steps necessary to accommodate the full range of plausible energy transition outcomes, it will be very difficult to secure the actions the province needs from the utility.

Customer count decoupling is one small potential element in the necessary adjustment of incentives and, in our submission, it is certainly worthwhile hearing more from Enbridge on the options to achieve that outcome.

Subject to any questions from the Panel, those would be our arguments in chief in favour of the motion.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

Mr. Sword, do you have any questions?

MR. SWORD:  No, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  No, I do not.

MR. MORAN:  Commissioner Duff?

MS. DUFF:  No.

MR. MORAN:  And Commissioner Elsayed?

MR. ELSAYED:  No, thanks.
Questions by the Board


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Just one question for you, Mr. Elson:  You talked about the need for the OEB to have a broader range of options.  You indicated that Environmental Defence has produced a couple of examples of how this could proceed.  And, as I understand it, what you are asking is that Enbridge think about other possible options for achieving a reduction in the incentive.  Do I have that accurately?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I think what we would be looking for primarily would be if Enbridge were to be asked to implement revenue decoupling with respect to customer count, how would it do it?  What does it think the best implementation approach is?

And to do that, they would likely look at a number of implementation options.  Maybe they would say "Well, one of the implementation options proposed by your expert is the best."  But it is really getting Enbridge's view on implementation options which would include, I assume, outlining additional options and, in particular, which one it thinks would be the most appropriate.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  So I guess the question is are we getting hung up on how you framed your question?  You framed the question along the lines of, "Please, Dear Enbridge, propose a number of implementation options in order to achieve this."

Is your real question about if you are required to decouple customer connections for the purposes of utility remuneration, how would you go about doing it?

MR. ELSON:  I think that would be another way to frame the question.  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  The second question I have is the OEB has commenced an exercise on the electricity side that is looking at how utilities are remunerated.  Has Environmental Defence engaged in that process?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  We have intervened in that process which, at the moment, is not looking at the gas sector, at least for the initial stage.

MR. MORAN:  Right.

MR. ELSON:  And the future stages are uncertain.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  I just wanted to see if you were aware of that exercise.  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

Next, I guess what I am going to do is I am going to ask if there are any intervenors who are supportive of Environmental Defence's motion, whether they have submissions to add at this time.

Submissions by Mr. Brophy


MR. BROPHY:  Commissioner Moran, it is Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  We had sent in a letter; I an assuming the commissioners have received and read that, and I have nothing else to add at this point.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Okay.  Not seeing any other hands being raised, we will turn it over to Enbridge.  Mr. Stevens?
Submissions by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Good morning.  Environmental Defence says in its written submission that its goal is to create a revenue decoupling mechanism that makes Enbridge Gas indifferent to adding new customers.  In reality, though, what ED wants is a mechanism that will greatly reduce the number of customer connections.  This is not neutrality.  This is not indifference.  It is the opposite.  The goal here is to disincent Enbridge Gas from adding new customers.  We say the goal here is to take away customer choice, and that is going to be the effect.

If a mechanism is implemented that takes away any benefits that Enbridge Gas could enjoy from adding customers, why would Enbridge Gas commit capital to that exercise?

There is going to be sticky questions about the obligation to connect, for sure.  But essentially, if Enbridge Gas is told you are not going to get any of the benefits anymore from adding customers, it is going to greatly reduce the number of customers being added. And I say, just as an opening premise, that is not indifference at all.

In this motion, Environmental Defence is seeking to have Enbridge Gas provide details about how to implement this revenue decoupling proposal.  In our written submissions that we filed on November 8, we set out Enbridge Gas's position; I am sure you have had the opportunity to review our filing.

Today, I want to highlight a few things from our submission and to respond to a few things that Mr. Elson has raised.

I would like to start by repeating the opening statement in our submission:
"Environmental Defence seeks to have Enbridge Gas supply alternatives and details for a new rate-making proposal that Enbridge Gas does not support.  ED is asking Enbridge Gas to come up with multiple scenarios that are not currently available on a topic that Enbridge Gas has not studied or considered, and to craft outcomes that Enbridge Gas does not endorse for a proposal that the company is not making."

Enbridge Gas does not agree to this request.  It is not the Applicant's  role or obligation to provide the details for an intervenor proposal.

ED's motion effectively asks Enbridge Gas to do the heavy lifting for ED's revenue decoupling proposal.  ED has filed bare-bones evidence from its expert, Current Energy Group, or CEG, and wants Enbridge Gas to fill in the details and provide alternatives.

Where another party makes a proposal in a rate proceeding, that other party should provide the details.  In this case, Enbridge Gas did make a rate proposal.  It set out a comprehensive incentive rate-making mechanism proposal.  All parties have agreed to that proposal; you have seen that.  That is Exhibit 1, or, sorry, issue 1 and the related issues in this case.  The only outstanding item is whether an additional mechanism should be added, that is ED's proposal.  We say they bear the onus of proving that.

I would like to start by setting out our proposal -- our position on ED's rate-making proposal.  We've already set this out in our motion response, and also in our response to ED question number 2, which we filed on Friday.  In particular, I would point you to pages 6 to 8 of our written response and to pages 1 to 3 of our response to ED question number 2, filed on Friday.  At the start of our response to ED question number 2, you will see that Enbridge Gas set out eight reasons against the ED revenue decoupling proposal.  I would like to just briefly summarize five of those.

First, we say that ED's singular focus on near-term rate mechanisms is fundamentally flawed.  They recognize that there is a long-term issue with adding rate base but their proposal doesn't deal with that at all.  It is just dealing with the near-term impacts.

Second, we say more generally, Enbridge Gas is just not indifferent to customer growth.  Quite the opposite.  Enbridge Gas supports customer choice.  Where customers seek new connections Enbridge Gas will accommodate that.  Enbridge Gas has a legal obligation to accommodate that.  The OEB Act says that Enbridge Gas must attach customer said who lie along the existing lines.  And, of course, when Enbridge Gas does so it should be properly compensated; that is what the fair return standard says.

It is very clear in our submission that the Ontario government also supports new customer connections for gas customers.  We can see that in Bill 165, which recently confirmed that, for the time being, a 40-year customer revenue horizon is appropriate.  We can see it in the recent Ontario energy policy statement called Ontario's Affordable Energy Future, Mr. Elson spoke briefly about that.  I will say that at paragraphs 33 and 34 of our written submissions we provide some different excerpts from that report.  We provide excerpts from that report that make very clear that the Ontario government is focused on customer choice.  The Ontario government is focused on affordability and the Ontario government is focused on avoiding what it talks about as ideological debates.

We say that ED's proposal is not consistent with existing OEB policy.  That is obviously going to be a matter of debate and contention when we come to the hearing, so I won't get into details.  I will say, though, that a fundamental change to rate-making policy, such as one like this, where hundreds of millions or even billions of dollars of revenue requirement would be trued up every year, should be decided in a more considered manner than a late-breaking proposal in a utility rate case.  As with Mr. Moran pointed out, the OEB currently as a process underway where it is looking at advancing performance-based regulation.  It is looking at the attributes of incentive rate-making models.  It is looking at how utilities should be compensated.  That is the sort of process where one would assume and expect to see such a wide ranging and highly impactful proposal such as ED's be considered.

Finally, we note that ED and its expert have not pointed to any equivalent mechanism in place in other jurisdictions aimed at reducing new customer connections to address stranded asset risks.  We say that calls into question the wisdom of this approach.  It also underlines the real risk here of unintended consequences.  If this is a first of kind proposal that has never actually been tested and used somewhere else, do we really know what all the consequences will be once it is implemented?  That is a really important thing for us to consider.

Now, I know the OEB is not determining the merits of ED's proposal today, but in our submission knowing why Enbridge Gas does not support the proposal is important for this motion.  And I say that is true for two reasons.

First, it explains why Enbridge Gas has not looked at the revenue decoupling issue in any detail before and why we haven't already completed work that we could provide about alternatives to implement revenue decoupling.

And second, it demonstrates that there is going to be a hotly contested issue about whether revenue decoupling should be implemented.  We say that ED's motion puts the cart before the horse.  ED asks Enbridge Gas to design solutions for a proposal that hasn't been endorsed or approved or pushed forward by the OEB.  As I am going to explain, ED's motion asks Enbridge Gas to do a huge amount of work to answer ED 1 at this stage and that worked with delay the hearing.

So, I would like to look next at what ED has actually provided in terms of support for its revenue decoupling proposal.  ED initially provided a respect from CEG that set out 6 recommendations, it is filed as Exhibit M2 in this case.  Revenue decoupling was 1 of the 6 recommendations.  CEG provided a high level explanation of this proposal over two and a quarter pages of its report.  We have reproduced this evidence at pages 1 to 3 of Appendix A to our motion.  CEG's evidence boils down to a single recommendation which I will read to you.  To address the OEB's expectation of declining sales from small volume customers, the OEB should explore a harmonized revenue balancing account that allows for truing up collected revenues against allowed revenues in a manner that is not tied to customer counts or customer average use.  Such a total sales-based approach to decoupling could we designed in a manner that does not true-up any weather related revenue variances thereby continuing to ensure that Enbridge Gas bears weather related risks.

After exhibit M2 was filed Enbridge Gas asked interrogatories to CEG.  Enbridge Gas asked CEG to identify other jurisdictions that have implemented a similar mechanism.  Enbridge Gas asked CEG to explain how the mechanism would work.  The reference here is Exhibit M2.EGI.9 and 10.  In response, CEG simply declined to answer Enbridge Gas' requests.  CEG said, well, those questions go beyond the scope and budget of its retainer.

So, going into the settlement process, the sum total of the evidence that we had was two-and-a-quarter pages.  No further details provided by CEG.  After the settlement conference, on October 18th, Environmental Defence filed additional answers from CEG to interrogatories from CCC.  Environmental Defence indicated that it had forgotten to address these questions earlier.  As part of these responses, CEG provided some details about how the revenue per customer class decoupling would work.  And we have included the answer to CCC number 3, which is the relevant answer, at Appendix A in our written submissions.  In that response, CEG provides two very brief hypothetical examples of how its proposed mechanism could work.  The sum total of CEG and ED's evidence on the revenue decoupling proposal is less than seven pages of written evidence, all of which is attached to our motion.  ED now asks that Enbridge Gas do a lot more work on this proposal.

I think at this stage it is helpful to remind ourselves of what ED asks.  They ask Enbridge Gas to describe a number of options whereby it would be made indifferent to the number of customer connections and customer exits during the IRM term from a revenue perspective, and indicate which option it believes would be the most appropriate should the OEB decide to implement revenue decoupling with respect to customer counts.

Now, we say that is a big task.  We definitely take issue with what my friend Mr. Elson said this morning, that this is a simple matter.  It is not work that Enbridge Gas has already done.  In our motion response at paragraph 49, we described how long it took Enbridge Gas to provide the analysis and support for its rebasing rate proposals.  This was a matter of years -- not days, not weeks, not even months.  And fair to say that a single proposal like revenue decoupling from customer numbers would take less time to evaluate and formulate, but the process is similar.  
Enbridge Gas would need to understand the regulatory landscape in other jurisdictions, get expert help in designing potential mechanisms, and then test how the mechanisms would work in practice.  This would be time-consuming.  This would be expensive.  The required work goes well beyond the seven pages of work that ED and its expert have done for their own proposal.

We say this shows how ED's request looks to transfer the burden of the work to Enbridge Gas.  After ED's motion was filed, Enbridge Gas reached out to an expert who could assist with this work.  Enbridge Gas spoke specifically with Christensen Associates, who are the expert assisting Enbridge Gas with rate design proposals in Phase III of this proceeding.

In response, the expert identified a number of tasks that they would want to complete in order to be responsive.  Those included the following:  First, they would want to do a review of decoupling mechanisms and the associated regulatory background by jurisdiction with a focus on how customer growth is handled and the implied incentives.  Second, they would want a detailed understanding of jurisdictions where this issue has been considered.  Third, they would want to develop mechanisms that could make the company indifferent in the near term to customer additions.  And finally, they would want to consider the long-term incentive problem associated with customer additions, or at least the long-term incentive problem that is identified by ED.

Christensen indicated this work would likely take until at least mid-February to complete, and the cost would be substantial.

I want to emphasize at this point that the expert part of the work is only part of the task.  Once that is complete, Enbridge Gas would have to do its own work to analyze how the proposed mechanisms will perform.  This would take additional weeks or months.  In total, therefore, we are currently estimating that the work associated with answering ED's question would take at least four months to complete.  I submit this underlines how ED's request is onerous and time consuming.  It is expensive.  It will certainly delay the hearing.

So I would like to now turn to ED's motion.  In the motion, ED asks that Enbridge Gas answer four questions related to the revenue decoupling proposal.  They are all new questions that go well beyond what was asked in interrogatories or at the technical conference.  In fact, ED only asked one question on this topic in interrogatories.  ED asked no questions on this topic at the technical conference.

Notwithstanding these are new, Enbridge Gas agreed to answer three of ED's questions.  We said this would take a month to do, but as required by the OEB, we did the best we could and answered as fully as we could within a week and provided our answers on Friday.

In the response to ED question number 2, Enbridge Gas provides a detailed response to the two very high-level proposals put forward by CEG.  Enbridge Gas sets out its concerns about the proposals both in terms of the goals of the proposals and in terms of implementation details.  As a result, we say that ED and the OEB should now have a much fuller understanding of the company's position.

In the response to ED question number 3, Enbridge Gas provided detailed information about the near-term revenues and costs associated with customer additions.  My friend says there is $280 million of benefit to Enbridge Gas.  The evidence they asked us to provide and that we did provide shows something very different.  As can be seen in our response, the net revenue or margin associated with new customers in the immediate term is immensely smaller than ED has assumed.  In its written motion, ED indicated an understanding that the net revenues from new customers were around $525 per customer per year.  In the detailed response that we provided to ED number 3, we have explained why the net revenues are actually in the range of $25 per customer per year, on average.  We say that clearly calls into question the central premise of ED's proposal, which is that the company has a huge immediate profit motivation to add new customers, and this needs to be dampened.

Finally, in the response to ED question number 4, Enbridge Gas provided current information about forecast customer additions and departures over the next five years.  That information confirms an expectation of customer growth.  That is different from CEG's premise, which is that there will be declining sales.

The only question that Enbridge Gas has not answered is ED question number 1.  In the written motion, ED gives two reasons why question number 1 should be answered.  First, ED points to rule 27 of the OEB's Rules of Practice and Procedure, which directs that full responses to interrogatories should be provided, and second, ED says the information should be provided as a matter of regulatory efficiency and effectiveness.

And today in his submissions, my friend Mr. Elson focused primarily on rule 27, but I am going to respond to both of these items now.  Enbridge Gas disagrees on both grounds.  Rule 26 of the OEB's Rules of Practice and Procedure says that interrogatories are intended to "contain specific requests for clarification of a party's evidence, documents, or other information in the possession of the party and relevant to the proceeding."  Rule 27, which my friend took you to, says that “a party who is unable or unwilling to provide a full and adequate response to an interrogatory shall explain why the request is not relevant or the information is not available, or why a response cannot be given."

Enbridge Gas followed the expectations in the OEB's rules.  Enbridge Gas answered the latter three questions in ED's motion.  Enbridge Gas does not believe it should be required to answer ED's first question.  Formulating and presenting rate proposals that have not been considered, studied, and prepared goes well beyond providing quote-unquote information.  The answers to ED's question number 1 are not quote-unquote in the possession of Enbridge Gas.  We made this clear when Enbridge Gas answered ED's initial interrogatory response on revenue decoupling.  The reference there is ED-59-C.  And there we stated:

"Enbridge Gas has not developed options for alternative models that are aimed at removing potential incentives to the company to add customers and therefore cannot comment on any such options."

ED now asks the company to create new quote-unquote information.  As I have explained, this request is not simple or straightforward.  The work required would take a substantial amount of time, effort and cost.

We say therefore that the OEB's rules about interrogatories do not direct or require that ED question number 1 be answered.

On the broader point about regulatory efficiency, we also disagree that the question needs to be answered.  Surely regulatory efficiency does not mean that an intervenor can put forward one or more untested propositions or general proposals, and then require that the applicant detail how to implement these proposals. That is not efficient at all.  And we say that sets a really challenging precedent.

Regulatory efficiency should require that a party making a proposal is responsible to justify and explain that proposal to the OEB.  ED looks to offload that work on to Enbridge Gas.  And they look do that before the OEB has determined if even the concept of the proposal has merit.

ED would see Enbridge Gas spend large amounts of time and money to develop ED's own proposal, and would see the hearing of the matter delayed, all in the name of regulatory efficiency.  We say that is not efficient at all.

And, for all those reasons, we would request that the motion be dismissed.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Does any other party have anything to add at this point?  Mr. Elson, we will get to in a minute.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, Commissioner Moran.  VECC would like to make a few submissions in support of Enbridge's position, if you don't mind.

MR. MORAN:  No.  Please, go ahead.
Submissions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  We would like to say is we believe the motion is wrong on a number of accounts.  And the first is that in our view Enbridge has answered the questions.  It just hasn't provided the answers Energy Defence wants.

The entire effort here doesn't go to revenue decoupling.  I think that is a hijacking of that term.  It is a scheme premised on the incorrect idea that Enbridge has some obligation not to entice Ontarians to become can gas customers, which is simply wrong in law.

And is this risk of new customers, is to whom?  Ontarians are free to join the gas system and they are free to leave it.  As far as we are aware, there are no barriers for a customer to leave the gas system.  Consumers are not stupid; they can make their own assessment of what is in their best interests.

Now, we would reiterate what Enbridge's point in all of this is:  I think my friend at Enbridge gives more credit to Environmental Defence.  I only sought two pages, not two and a quarter, of actual evidence on this.  And then, subsequently, there are another 20 pages by IRs, or something, or 15 pages, added by Enbridge already.

So, when it comes to lifting in this case, let's just say there hasn't been a lot of lifting by the proponent of this whole exercise.

So we submit Enbridge has made more than sufficient effort, and our friends at consumers coalition, also in the IR, they asked to help Environmental Defence make its case for what it calls revenue decoupling, but which I would say is not revenue decoupling.

And I would just point out, if the Board would like, and I could give the reference after, there is literature on this from, for instance, from Christina Simone at the University of Pennsylvania; it goes through what revenue decoupling is.  This is not revenue decoupling.

Revenue decoupling is being proposed by Enbridge in its next phase, a form of recognized revenue decoupling.  Revenue decoupling has been happening in electricity. This is not revenue decoupling.

And as to what this goes to, one of the Board's objectives here is to facilitate rational expansion of the transmission and distribution system of gas, and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable gas industry, all within the ambit of the Board's regulation.

It seems to me the only way you can accept this motion to look into this is to come to the conclusion there is no rational expansion of the gas system left.  And, if that is the case, I would suggest the Board needs to have a discussion with the Government of Ontario, that there is no more facilitation of rational expansion of natural gas in this province.  I certainly don't think that is true.

In sum, the utility here is not obligated to make propositions which it believes are contrary to the interests of its shareholders or its ratepayers.  The utility is not obligated to make assumptions, as are made here by Environmental Defence, that adding customers to the natural gas system is irrational and therefore needs to be neutralized or discouraged or inhibited or restricted in any fashion.

The utility is entitled to hold the position that adding customers makes business sense.  Certainly, that is the case in most other businesses.  EGI is a regulated monopoly company, not an agent of social change.  It is a business, much like others:  non-rate-regulated energy businesses, the ones who -- propane, gasoline, fuel oil makers and distributors, all carbon emitters, businesses which remain legal, whose activities are unconstrained to selling their products provided they act within the laws of the land.

Rate regulation, what the Board does, is premised on finding just and reasonable rates, and those rates should not be based on someone's vision of GHG reduction policies for natural gas.  They should be based on economic principles, cost-based principles; ask the Board here to ask themselves what is the cost-based principle we are talking here?

And, as for some of the comments made this morning, as far as I can understand, Enbridge is not dissuading anybody from using electricity, as suggested to you by Mr. Elson this morning for space heating.  What dissuades customers from using electricity for space heating is the cost.

Leave the big city, go out to the rural area of this province, find people who are on the gas system and you will find people who use wood to heat their homes.  It may come as a surprise, but it is actually out there, because the cost of electricity is quite high.

So I think at the end of the day here, my friend may have noble ideas, but he presents them in the wrong venue.  He is not here to convince you of this.   He needs to convince the voters that the government should change the law of the land on how to use carbon fuels.  That is where he needs to take his case.

And I would say that in reminding the Board that my client and clients like my client have, before the Board, made cases about social need.  We have made them on the basis, for instance, of having classes of rates for low-income consumers.  And the Board has rejected those attempts, even though, as I understand it, the courts said it is within the Board's jurisdiction to do that sort of thing.  And it has done so because it said -- and I could read you from one of those cases, is the Board said the Board is required by legislation to fix just and reasonable rates.  And, in doing so, it attempts to ensure that no undue discrimination occurs between rate classes -- that was the issue -- and the principles of cost causality are followed in allocating the underlying rates.
"While the Board recognizes" -- this was a case from an Aboriginal group – "the ONA's concern, the Board finds the establishment of special rate class to provide redress for Aboriginal consumers” -- of Centra, in those days – "does not meet the above criteria."


So we have been in front of the Board talking about what we thought are important issues, social issues, too, and the Board has said to us, we are an economic regulator.  We are not here to promote social goals.

And so I think my friend, as I said, is simply in the wrong venue.  And I think the utility has gone to some efforts to meet their needs, to give you something to review.  And I think we should -- it should be left at that.

Thank you.  Those are our submissions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

Mr. Rubenstein and Mr. Ladanyi, are you indicating that you want to make some submissions?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I would like to make a submission.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Why don't we start with you, Mr. Rubenstein, then?  And then we will follow up with Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think, based on what I expect in the submissions, Mr. Ladanyi is probably better if he goes, since our position is we don't take a position; there is a submission with respect to how you should assess this issue that we would like to make.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Mr. Ladanyi?
Submissions by Mr. Ladanyi

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Energy Probe is opposed to the motion by Environmental Defence.  In this motion, Environmental Defence has provided a preview of its argument that it plans to use in the hearing, and we thank them for that, for giving us a preview.

I must say that Energy Probe does not agree with most of the points made by Environmental Defence in its preview of its argument, and we will deal with that in the hearing, not here.  So I am not going to address those.

Environmental Defence claims to speak for the interest of ratepayers, we certainly do not agree with that.

Now, Environmental Defence filed a number of interrogatories months after the interrogatory process is over.  These should have been rejected because they were so late.  If every party the proceeding was allowed to file late interrogatories months until to the process was over, this could not possibly be construed as regulatory efficiency.

Enbridge, certainly to its credit, attempted to answer some of these  interrogatories and did a pretty good job.  The fact that Environmental Defence doesn't like the answers doesn't matter.  They can pursue it in the hearing and its argument.  Enbridge does not have to be forced to provide answers to any intervenor that the intervenor will like.  And it is up to Enbridge to have its case; if Enbridge's interrogatory responses are inadequate that will be decided by the Board in its decision.

Now, Interrogatory No.1, which Enbridge cannot answer, Environmental Defence filed a half-baked revenue decoupling proposal and it wants Enbridge to bake it.  We consider this to be totally improper request and the OEB should reject it.  For these reasons, and also for the reasons that were brought up by Enbridge, Energy Probe submits that the OEB should turn down the motion by Environmental Defence.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Mr. Rubenstein.
Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  SEC does not take a position on the merits or the outcome of this motion but we do wish to raise one issue.  Enbridge seems to insinuate in its submissions that when an intervenor who files evidence it really shifts the burden to that intervenor regarding their proposal, which at its core, if we think about it, is really a modification of the Applicant's proposal, because, in the view of the intervenor, that initial proposal is not just and reasonable.

The burden of proof for the entire application for all aspects remains with the Applicant, this is a legislative requirement under section 36(6) of the OEB Act, which recognizes that an Applicant, with respect to an application for rates for the sale of distribution, transmission, storage, the burden remain -- it is the Applicant's burden.

And I think it is important to consider what, in the context of that, and what an intervenor proposal is.  It is really a challenge to the reasonableness of the original, of the Applicant's proposal, with some aspect, here, it being Environmental Defence's challenge to the rate framework.  And that is how the OEB should assess an intervenor proposal.

And our comment in considering if you grant or deny the motion is to not acquiesce to the view, either implicit or explicit, from Enbridge that there is this burden-shifting with respect to the intervenor proposal.

Now, to be clear, that doesn't mean that an intervenor proposal can come with no information for a panel to assess the merits of it.  But it doesn't shift the burden with respect to the underlying aspect that that evidence is trying to get at, which is here as the rate framework.  Those are our brief submissions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Are there any other submissions before I ask Mr. Elson to reply?

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Commissioner Moran.  Can I just very briefly respond to Mr. Rubenstein's point?

MR. MORAN:  Sure, go ahead.
Submissions by Mr. Stevens (continued)


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Enbridge certainly accepts that it bears the burden of proving that the rates it is proposing are just and reasonable.  In no way are we trying to suggest otherwise.  Our suggestion is simply that where a party makes proposals as to a different way in which rates can be made just and reasonable, it is on that other party to establish and explain and put forward the proposal.  It is on that other party to provide all of the evidence and justification as to the modification that they seek.  The Applicant ultimately needs to show that rates are just and reasonable without that modification, but we say it is the intervenor's burden to prove the modification, or at least to establish the modification they are putting forward.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Elson, do you have reply?
Reply Submissions by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  I do, I am afraid, Mr. Chair, and I will start in reverse order, and thank you for the opportunity.

My friend from Enbridge made a comment that intervenors bear the burden, and it is true that we have the burden to prove that a modification is needed in a sense, I guess.  But it is really Enbridge that has the burden to prove that its proposal is appropriate.  And what we intend to prove is that that is not the case.  And, you know, Enbridge is in a particular position to provide additional details with respect to implementation.  We are not asking Enbridge to prove that there should be revenue decoupling with respect to customer counts.  That would be a different question.

We are not asking Enbridge to argue for something that it doesn't believe in.  We are asking Enbridge to put some options on the table so that the Board can decide if it chooses to go down this road, it should be pick option B instead of option A, for instance, which gives you, as the Board Panel members, more options at your fingertips.

Mr. Ladanyi commented that the proposals are half-baked.  We strenuously disagree.  The proposals don't take up a lot of pages, but that doesn't mean that they aren't fully thought out.  There are two implementation proposals that have been provided with details, including specific calculations in the footnotes.  If Enbridge has any questions about how those would work we would be happy to answer them.  And although we would like to hear from Enbridge, that shouldn't be leaving the impression that we are not 100 percent prepared to proceed and to argue for what the current energy group has put forward, both of which are reasonable options.

Mr. Garner made comments saying that the space heating is too expensive with electricity and that it is not Enbridge that is dissuading customers from electrifying; I mean, that is just contrary to the evidence, and I don't need to get into that at this stage.

Mr. Garner also commented that Enbridge, as a fact, isn't dissuading customers from electrifying.  Again, we disagree and, again, that's a matter for the evidence.

Mr. Garner made reference to maintaining a viable gas industry.  And, again, having an incentive to perpetually grow the gas system is contrary to the interest of maintaining a viable gas industry because too much expansion jeopardizes the financial viability of the utility.  With respect to rational expansion, which Mr. Garner referred to, rational expansion does not mean that Enbridge pushes for as many developers to connect as possible.  That is not what happens based on market signals, that is with Enbridge tipping the scales in favour of one choice versus another.

And lastly, Mr. Garner says that Ontarians are free to join the gas system or leave the gas system, that customers are not stupid.  We are obviously not saying customers are stupid, but Mr. Garner is wrong that Ontarians are free to join and leave the gas system.  When someone buys a home and it has got a gas furnace in it, it is not cost effective to change because you are throwing out brand new equipment.  And so, when Enbridge convinces developers to connect to the gas system, which wouldn't otherwise connect to the gas system, those home buyers are stuck with their equipment until it reaches the end of its life, at which point you have the most cost effective time to switch over your equipment.

I will move on to Enbridge's comment about rule 26.  And it appears that Enbridge is arguing that the only thing we can ask for is information in the possession of Enbridge.  And if that were the case, then many, many interrogatories that are commonly asked and commonly answered and commonly support the OEB's decisions in these proceedings would be offside.

It is frequent for intervenors to ask for analysis, not just pre-existing information, and Enbridge's analysis is important in many interrogatory responses.  Also, I will refer the Panel to Rule 26.01c, and it says the interrogatory process shall permit a full and satisfactory understanding of the matters to be considered.  And in my submission, that is a lot broader than being restricted to seeking information that is already in the possession of the Applicant.

My friend referred to the lack of technical conference questions on this point, and all I can say is that we had limited time, and it didn't make sense to use that limited time to re-ask a question that was already refused.

My friend referred to what he considers to be a lack of evidence regarding revenue decoupling.  I would like to go through the specifics.  He referred to M2.EGI.9, in which case Enbridge asks CEG group to conduct a full detailed jurisdictional analysis of revenue decoupling with respect to customer count.  That is just not possible within the time that was available, and frankly, we don't think it is necessary.

And CEG didn't respond simply by saying nothing; it did provide an example of revenue decoupling.  With respect to EGI 10, Enbridge asked how the proposed decoupling with respect to customer count would work with respect to both the proposed IRM model and historic IRM models, and CEG said that that is beyond the scope of what it has proposed, but with respect to the actual IRM model being proposed, it referred Enbridge back to the evidence which described how it would work.

I would disagree with the contention that questions were asked and were baldly refused.  I do acknowledge that the responses to the CCC IRs came late, and I apologize for that.  It was a mix-up on our end.

With respect to Christensen Associates, I heard my friend note that they would want to also address the long-term incentive problems, which to me is a different question and would require additional work and would require additional time.  If they were focused on the interim revenue incentives, it would seem to me like it would be, you know, more efficient, faster to produce evidence if Enbridge does wish to go to an outside party.  And if it takes additional time, I am in the Board's hands.  Whether Enbridge prepares something faster or were to hire someone to help them, we think it is important to get this right.

There was a comment from my friend which, in essence, was suggesting that this matter should be deferred to the OEB incentive rate-making consultation process.  In our submission, that doesn't make sense.  If this were the electricity sector, it might make sense, because in that context, you would have one proceeding that would apply to all of the 60 or so LDCs.  But there is really only one large gas utility, and it is Enbridge.  And this is the process where which we decide whether the IRM proposals are appropriate, and it is the most appropriate time to address it.

There is nothing -- we don't benefit from sort of economies of scale in the gas sector by punting an issue to a consultation process.  We don't oppose the issue being delayed to a later stage in this proceeding, but we would oppose it being deferred to a consultation process that is mainly dealing with the electricity sector.

Finally, my friend started with a comment saying that Environmental Defence is seeking to greatly reduce the number of customer connections and that the proposals would greatly reduce the number of customer connections.  It may be true that customer connections would be reduced, but not to zero.  They would be reduced to what would naturally come about without Enbridge working as hard as it can to convince as many developers to connect to the gas system and to dissuade customers from lowering their bills through beneficial electrification.

Those are our submissions in reply, subject to any questions from the Panel, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  I think we have heard from both Enbridge and from Environmental Defence.  The foreshadowing of the position each of you will take on the merits of this issue when we get to the hearing, and as I understand it, that was presented to us by way of context to understand the positions that each of you are taking with respect to the request, the information request.
Questions by the Board


Mr. Stevens, you indicated in your submissions that there is a -- that Environmental Defence has raised a big question.  It is late in the day.  It is a big task.  I think you have also indicated that it is a serious question and needs time.  I just wanted to make sure I got that right.

MR. STEVENS:  All those things are true, Commissioner Moran.  Again, I suggest it is putting the cart before the horse to do all this work before the proposition is established.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  I understand, yes.  I think you referred to the consultation process that is going underway on the electricity side as an example of the kind of process that needs to take place.  Again, I just wanted to make sure I understood that submission, as well.

MR. STEVENS:  I think that is right.  I mean, I think there is potentially the question of who is involved in this process, who could be impacted by this process, is everybody here, is everybody participating.  We are not hearing a lot of support for this proposition today as we hear submissions from other parties.  We really don't have much of a background to get into all of this.  I know that, for example, looking at the rate-making models for utilities proceeding has started with a jurisdictional scan.  It is looking seriously about what happens in other places.  What are the problems that folks are trying to solve?  How are they doing that?  What is the best way to do that?  My friend has not provided any of that information in relation to their work.  They tell us, well, that is way too much work, but it is important work.  We say it is not up to us to do it for his proposal.  But it hasn't been done.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, in the context of that OEB process, I mean, I am assuming you are not referring to that as an ideological debate.  Right?

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry, I don't understand what you mean by the ideological debate.

MR. MORAN:  You made a comment in your submissions.  You made a reference to the need to avoid ideological debate.  I guess I am just asking the question:  Do you consider the OEB process with respect to the LDC remuneration issue to be an ideological debate?

MR. STEVENS:  I assume that the OEB will be very mindful of the government's directions within its energy policy statements about what it sees as being in scope and what it sees as being out of scope.  I have full confidence that the OEB will ground itself within the bounds of current Ontario energy policy.

MR. MORAN:  Fair enough.  In the context of your reference to ideological debate in this motion, what are we to take from that reference?  What are you pointing to that suggests that all this is just simply an ideological debate, as opposed to a consideration of some alternative approaches to rate regulation?

MR. STEVENS:  I don't think I have to point you further than the different things you heard from Mr. Elson versus Mr. Garner and Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. MORAN:  What would those be?

MR. STEVENS:  The different perspectives on what customers are looking for, different perspectives on how customers consider cost, different perspectives on how customers consider customer choice.  All of those, I believe, underlie the government's reference to ideological debate within its recent energy policy statement.  I mean, I don't speak for the government, of course.  That is just what I take from it.

MR. MORAN:  Fair enough.  That is what I am trying to understand is what are you trying to tell us by using the phrase "ideological debate" in the context of this motion?  What is ideological about this motion?  I am just genuinely curious to understand.  I understood all the other submissions I have heard.

MR. STEVENS:  The ideological debate is around what do  customers actually want.  What is the path towards electrification?  How much should OEB policy and government policy be pushing things in one direction or another?  All those are examples of things that are subject to ideological debate.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I was just trying to understand what your working definition was of ideological, I guess.  Maybe I can leave it at this.  If I understand you correctly, you are just basically saying ideological debate is about when people have different points of view?

MR. STEVENS:  I will simply restate what the government said in their policy.

MR. MORAN:  I think that is fine.  I mean, yes, we heard Mr. --


MR. STEVENS:  They didn't talk about ideological debate, to be fair.  What they said was:
"The build-out of a cleaner and more diversified economy must be paced according to the needs of homes, businesses and economic investment, including the need to keep energy costs competitive, not ideologically driven."

And the reference for that is "Ontario's Affordable Energy Future", under the heading, "Priorities for Natural Gas."

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So thank you for that clarification, Mr. Stevens.

And so, based on that, I mean, I give -- you already indicated that this is a big question and it is a meaningful question, and that the OEB is looking at it in the electricity context.  So presumably, in that process, people are permitted to talk about how this might all work and, ultimately, some direction will derive from that.

But is that ideological, from your perspective?  Or is it issue driven?

MR. STEVENS:  I believe what the government is warning against, it is coming up with decisions that are driven by ideology rather than facts, evidence, and alignment with policy.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

Mr. Elson, I see you have your hand raised.  Did you want to make a point?
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MR. ELSON:  I am sorry, I will just be very brief, Mr. Chair.  I just wanted to respond to my friend's comment about the jurisdictional scan that is taking place in the OEB proceeding with respect to utility remuneration in the electricity context.  And that proceeding is far more extensive than what we are talking about.

They are looking at basically reimagining the utility remuneration structure, including changing to the Totex model and other full-scale, you know, sort of revolutions.  And so I don't think the fact that they are doing a jurisdictional scan necessarily means that Enbridge needs to do a jurisdictional scan to ask -- answer a specific question about options to decouple revenue with respect to customer counts.

That is all.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

Just let me quickly touch base with my fellow commissioners.  Any other questions at this point, for anybody?  No?  Okay, seeing none.

All right.  We will break at this point, and leave it at that.  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:18 a.m.

MR. MORAN:  Welcome back, everyone.  So, we are now going to continue with the presentation by Enbridge Gas on the Settlement Proposal, and once that is completed we are planning to take a lunch break and then we will carry out our questions after that.  Mr. Stevens, are you ready to proceed?

MR. STEVENS:  We are.  Ms. Innis will be presenting on behalf of Enbridge Gas, and all parties, the summary of the settlement proposal.

MR. MORAN:  So, just for the transcript, could you just introduce the people who will be participating in the presentation?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  With me in the room here, Commissioner Moran, are Vanessa Innis and Laura Sheehan.  I am David Stevens.  The presentation will be made by Vanessa Innis, who is the program director for Enbridge's rate proceeding.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you very much.  And, again, just I was advised during the break that Mr. Quinn, on behalf of FRPO, was having microphone problems but he wanted us to know that he is making an appearance today.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Mr. Stevens, over to you.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Ms. Innis


MS. INNIS:  Super.  Thanks so much.  So, again, as Mr. Stevens mentioned, my name is Vanessa Innis and I am the director of strategic regulatory applications for Enbridge Gas.  Bonnie is bringing up the presentation, so thanks very much for that, Bonnie.  If we could pop to the next slide or the first slide that would be great.

So, I will start with the highlights.  Enbridge Gas filed the partial settlement proposal for Phase II of the 2024 rebasing application with the OEB on November the 4th.  Through diligent efforts, constructive discussion, and cooperation the parties resolved a large range of issues in Phase II.  There are three issues that remain unresolved and that will go to hearing.

Along with the settlement proposal, Enbridge Gas also filed the draft rate order for January 1, 2025 reflecting the outcomes of the settlement.  Enbridge Gas requests approval of the draft rate order by November 26th to enable it to be able to incorporate it into the January QRAM filing, to be filed December 6th.

OEB Staff filed its comment on the settlement proposal on November the 14th, in which they supported the settlement and stated a belief that the settlement represents a positive outcome for ratepayers and adequately protects the public interest.  Revised Procedural Order No. 8, released on November 11th, sets the hybrid hearing dates for the unsettled issues for December 17th and 18th.

We can go to the next slide.  In terms of an overview of the partial settlement, the impacts on revenue deficiency for 2024 is a decrease of $9.3 million.  The key drivers behind this decrease are the reduction in revenue requirement associated with the Dawn-to-Corunna project and a $1 million base rate adjustment as an estimate of the amounts to be received by Enbridge Gas from Enbridge Sustain versus services provided where such amounts were not included in the company's 2024 O&M budget filed with the OEB.

With respect to the 2025 to 2028  period, the estimated cumulative delivery revenue reduction associated with the settled incentive rate setting mechanism parameters is a reduction of approximately $500 million.  This is when compared to Enbridge Gas' proposed productivity and stretch factors.

The settlement proposal covers five categories of areas, the incentive rate setting mechanism, or IRM as I will refer to it as, storage and gas costs, energy transition, rate implementation, and other items.  I will now provide some further detail on each of these categories.

So, first of all is the IRM.  Parties agree the parameters the IRM will apply for 2025 through to 2028.  Along with the 2024 cost of service year, this results in a five-year IRM term.  It is a price cap IRM formula that uses inflation, less a stretch factor of 0.28 percent.  The inflation factor uses a weighting of 75 percent for the non-labour component of gross domestic product implicit price index final domestic demand, or GDP IPI FDD, and 25 percent for the labour component, which looks at the changes in average hourly earnings, or AHE, for the most recent calendar year.

Y factors, or passthrough, will be included for cost of gas in upstream transportation, demand side management, DSM costs, lost revenue adjustment mechanism, or LRAM, and normalized average use adjustment.  There is also agreement for a new Y factor that would track revenue requirement impacts from an OEB generic proceeding on determining an appropriate revenue horizon and/or customer attachments.  Details on this new Y factor would be determined after an OEB decision in the generic proceeding.

The Z factor threshold will be set at $6.7 million.  There will be 50-50 earnings sharing between customers and the company, to the extent the company earns beyond 100 basis points above the allowed ROE.  To the extent the company earns beyond 300 basis point above the allowed ROE, the earnings would be shared 90 percent to customers and 10 percent to the company.

Enbridge Gas will be permitted to seek ICM treatment for projects that qualify under the OEB's ICM policies with a project specific in-service materiality threshold of $75 million.  Enbridge Gas will not include capitalized overhead costs as part of the project costs sought for ICM rate recovery during the IRM term.

For establishment of new deferral and variance accounts, a $3 million annual revenue requirement materiality threshold will apply.  Enbridge Gas will continue its approach for annual proceedings for clear and set deferral and variance account balances and presentation of utility results, earning sharing amounts, and scorecard results.  Additionally, Enbridge Gas will make annual base rate adjustments each year in 2025 through to 2028 related to moving overhead capital to O&M.

The next topic area is storage and gas costs.  As part of an overall settlement to the storage issues, Enbridge Gas has agreed to withdraw its proposal to add 10 PJs of market storage.  The amount of storage to be included in rates is 217.7 PJs, which is the amount calculated using aggregate excess methodology for bundled customers and contracted storage space by semi-unbundled customers.  Parties also agree that Enbridge Gas will fix maximum therm withdrawal and dehydration capability at 4 PJs per day, which is notionally 1.9 PJ for the EGD rate zone and 2.1 PJ for the Union rate zones, and maximum firm injection capability for in-franchise customers at 1.7 PJs a day.

Also as part of the overall settlement of the storage issues, the parties agreed that Enbridge Gas will maintain the cap of 199.7 PJs.  The parties do not object to the continued purchased of market-priced storage from Enbridge Gas where appropriate.  Enbridge Gas will have 18 PJs of market-based storage, adjusted annually, based on needs.  The company will manage the reduction from the current 26 PJs of market-based storage to 18 PJs by not renewing storage contracts as they expire.

Enbridge Gas agrees that in total it will need to explain and justify the prudence of its load balancing costs and will do so as part of the annual deferral and variance account disposition applications.

Additionally, Enbridge Gas agrees to report on required deliverability each year and the actions taken to meet in-franchise deliverability requirements above the base level of 4 PJs.

Enbridge Gas will implement its proposed harmonized storage cost allocation methodology with one change:  A portion of the cost of all new storage assets providing a storage service, starting in 2024, will be allocated annually to unregulated storage operations based on an equal weighting of the relative amount of storage space and deliverability provided by the regulated and unregulated storage operations.  This is except for any new storage additions adding storage to capacity, which will be allocated 100 percent to unregulated storage.

For 2024 this method results in an allocation of 62 percent to regulated storage and 38 percent to unregulated storage.  This method will also be used as applicable for allocating operating costs between regulated and unregulated storage.  For the Dawn-to-Corunna project, the parties agree to a $19 million reduction to the amount being added to 2024 rate base with the updated total amount subject to allocation between regulated and unregulated operations at the 62-38 level.

Parties agree to the proposal to implement the cost consequences of the 2024 gas supply plan as part of Phase III.  This approach is simple and easily implementable without the need for significant base rate adjustments or changes to the QRAM and purchased gas variance account or PGVA process in advance of Phase III.  Cost allocation to rate classes is an issue that will be heard in Phase III.  Enbridge Gas will continue to use the existing gas cost variance accounts until the outcomes of Phase III are implemented.  Even if amounts are disposed of through the PGVA, parties can review and propose changes to load balancing costs as part of the annual deferral and variance account disposition proceeding.

Switching now to the category of energy transition.  There was no agreement that the safe bets identified by Enbridge Gas are safe bets.  However, for the purposes of settlement, Enbridge Gas has agreed to expand the hydrogen grid study scope to include an assessment of feasibility, cost, and ability to implement system modifications to serve a representative sample of hard-to-electrify industrial customers with 100 percent hydrogen.

The parties do not agree whether the spend on the project is all appropriate or eligible for capitalization.  However, that will be an issue at the next rebasing proceeding, to the extent that Enbridge Gas seeks to add that capital spending to rate base for rate-making purposes.

Parties agree that Enbridge Gas will not establish an energy transition technology fund at this time.

In relation to Integrated Resource Planning, or IRP, Enbridge Gas has made three commitments.  Number 1 is to file a report in Phase III setting out its response to and compliance with the OEB's directions related to IRP.  Number 2 is to file an application that includes a proposal and a request for approval of an IRP incentive mechanism within the next year.  And number 3, to work with the IRP technical working group to identify one or two system pruning pilot projects, which will implemented by 2026.

On the next slide, Enbridge Gas will add new reporting metrics to its OEB scorecard that identify the in-year avoided capital costs of an investment as a result of the implementation of an asset life extension alternative or IRP alternative.  There will be no targets for these metrics, which will be provided for information transparency.

In relation to asset life extension, Enbridge Gas will create a new asset life extension costs deferral account into which incremental O&M costs associated with asset life extension activities can be recorded.  Enbridge Gas will study a mechanism to implement differentiated ROEs on different asset types and an efficiency carryover mechanism with a capital efficiency sharing mechanism and file analysis and options in its next rebasing application.

For rate implementation, within the draft rate order, Enbridge Gas proposes interim rates to implement the changes resulting from this settlement proposal.  For 2024, it reflects the addition of Dawn-to-Corunna to rate base, changes to cost-to-revenue requirement based on the change to the storage cost allocation methodology, and the base rate adjustment for Enbridge Sustain.  There a rate rider to recover the 2024 full-year impact of these changes.

Interim 2025 rates reflect the base rate adjustment made in 2024, the base rate adjustments to move capitalized overhead to O&M, application of the price cap to 2024 interim rates, and Y factor adjustments for 2025 DSM costs and average use.  2025 rates would remain interim pending the OEB's decision on the outstanding issue regarding Environmental Defence's proposal.

Additionally, unit rates reflecting the levelized rate treatment approved in Phase I for the Panhandle Regional Expansion Project, or PREP, have been included to recover the associated 2024 to 2028 PREP revenue requirement over the remainder of the IRM term.

Finally, in the other category, parties agree that Enbridge Gas appropriately responded to directions in the Phase I rebasing decision with respect to site restoration costs, providing a line of sight into the balance collected for ratepayers.  With respect to marketing materials, beginning 45 days after the filing of the settlement proposal, so November 4th, Enbridge Gas shall not include statements related to the relative cost effectiveness of or savings from natural gas heating unless it includes a comparison with the relative cost effectiveness of heating with electric cold climate heat pumps.

Enbridge Gas will establish a new OEB cost assessment variance account starting in 2025.  The new account will record variances and cost assessments as compared to the amount that was included in the 2024 O&M budget of $9.4 million, as adjusted using the IRM formula.  Enbridge Gas is entitled to recover amounts that are more than $2 million above the threshold and will credit all amounts below the threshold.

With respect to demonstrating that Enbridge Sustain's activities are not funded through rates, base utility rates for revenue requirement will be reduced by $1 million as an estimate of the amounts to be received by Enbridge Gas from Enbridge Sustain for services provided where such amounts were not included as recoveries in the company's filed 2024 O&M budget.  A new asymmetrical Enbridge Sustain affiliate recoveries variance account will be established, into which Enbridge Gas will credit any additional amounts above $1 million as adjusted annually according to the IRM formula in each year of the 2024 to 2028 IRM term, with additional reporting in the annual earning sharing deferrals and variance disposition proceeding.

As part of settlement, Enbridge Gas agreed to additional representations.  These include confirming Enbridge Gas customer service representatives do not refer inquiries to Enbridge Sustain, the utility website not having direct links to Enbridge Sustain, Enbridge Sustain charges being billed on a separate bill from the utility bill, customer information only being made available to Enbridge Sustain in a manner available to any other HVAC contractor, and that Enbridge Gas will study within the next two years whether there is customer confusion between Enbridge Gas and Enbridge Sustain and what steps, if any, might be appropriate to minimize that confusion.

We can go to the next slide.  As I mentioned previously, there are three unsettled issues that will proceed to hearing.  So the first is an Enbridge Gas proposal to procure lower carbon energy as part of the gas supply commodity portfolio, including a low-carbon voluntary program for large-volume customers.  To the extent that the OEB approves the proposal, parties agree that consideration should be given to how any approved program could contribute to advancing economic reconciliation with First Nations.  The second is an Enbridge Gas proposal to exclude inaccessible meters from the calculation of its meter-reading performance metric.  And the third is the Environmental Defence proposal for a mechanism to decouple revenue from customer numbers.

So if we go to the next slide, as I mentioned previously, we filed the draft rate order on November 4th for updated 2024 and interim 2025 rates reflecting the settlement proposal.  Enbridge Gas also filed draft accounting orders for approval.

And then this is the last slide here.  We are requesting approval of the partial settlement proposal, the draft rate order and draft accounting orders by November 26, 2024.  This approval is necessary to implement the associated rates starting January 1, 2025 in conjunction with the January QRAM application.

That concludes my remarks and I will be happy to take any questions that folks have.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Innis.

Just before we break for lunch, there is a question from the Panel with respect to the draft rate order.  In the last procedural order we had indicated that if people wanted to make submissions on the rate order, they should do so by November 14.  We haven't seen any submissions from anybody, including Staff.

And so I just wanted to leave that question with the parties and maybe, if there are views on what that adds up to, we can address that after the lunch break.

MR. MILLAR:  Commissioner Moran, if I may, Mr. Chair, we have spoken offline briefly about this before, and I was remiss in not pointing out, Staff actually did put in a very short submission on the draft rate order; it is tucked in with our submission on the settlement proposal.

And if you haven't had a chance to refresh your memory, it is just two sentences in there, two or three sentences, essentially saying no problem, subject to some things being worked out in the inflation factor, which is coming.

So I said before that we hadn't filed; we had in fact, and I had half-missed it myself.  But it is in the Staff submission.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Okay.

So, over lunch, perhaps parties can consider if there are any issues or concerns about the draft rate order as proposed that will help the decision-making process.

So we just want to confirm that people have reviewed the draft order, and to the extent that they have, whether there are any concerns or issues or questions arising from what is in the draft rate order.

So, on that note, we will adjourn for lunch.  It is 20 to 12:00 now.  We will come back at one o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:41 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:03 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Good afternoon, everybody.  As I indicated before the break, the first matter that we want to address is whether anybody needs an opportunity to make any submissions with respect to the draft rate order.  The settlement agreement indicated that a drafted rate order was going to be filed at the same time as the settlement proposal, and the parties in the settlement agreement indicate that they had not had a chance to review it.  Our procedural order said that if there were concerns or comments they should be filed by November 14th, and we just want to know if there is any submissions at this stage.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may.  I did have an opportunity to canvas the parties over the break, and I think everyone was in agreement they had had plenty of time to review the draft rate order.  Quite a number of parties did review it and have no comments.  And I think we can assume that those -- that anyone who hasn't reviewed it has had the opportunity to do so and is unlikely to do so.  I note most of the parties are here today, so if I have stated anything wrong they can let me know, but that was the impression I got from the parties.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  All right.  Well, on that note, then let's proceed to Panel questions on the settlement proposal.  So, we are going to start off with Commissioner Sword.
Questions by the Board


MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  I am not sure who this gets addressed to, so to the Enbridge panel, a question around the $500 million in savings and it its relationship to the zero  productivity; could you elaborate a bit on that, please?

MS. INNIS:  Sure.  So the $500 million relates to the difference between our original proposal, which was a negative productivity of -- sorry, a productivity factor of negative 1.52 percent and a zero stretch factor, so for a total factor of negative 1.5 percent, compared to a total X factor of 0.28 percent, which is the zero productivity plus the 0.28 percent stretch factor.

So, if you compare the difference in table 2 of the settlement proposal, it kind of explains what would have happened under Enbridge Gas' proposal and what is happening under the settled upon parameters for the incentive rate mechanism and that is what sums to the difference of approximately $500 million.

MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  On issue number 5 it talks about DVAs and there is a cost of gas DVA that you are proposing; could you elaborate a bit on that, please?

MS. INNIS:  Just a second, please.

MR. SWORD:  It was in your presentation.

MS. INNIS:  Did you say issue 5, Commissioner Sword?

MR. SWORD:  I did.  I was talking about DVAs, the DVA applications, the DVA accounts.

MS. INNIS:  Oh, okay.  Yes.

MR. SWORD:  If I have mistaken the issue, my apology.

MR. STEVENS:  Good afternoon, Commissioner Sword.  Enbridge Gas is not proposing, at this point, any new cost of gas deferral accounts.  I believe during her presentation Ms. Innis was speaking to the implementation of the gas supply changes that are set out in the Phase II settlement.  That is going to happen in the Phase III process, and so, at that point it could be that there were new gas supply-related deferral and variance accounts.  Indeed, I know, for example, there is a load balancing account being proposed in Phase III.  But nothing is being either proposed or requested for approval that is new within Phase II.

MR. SWORD:  The establishment of a DVA or more DVAs, what does that do with the incentive for cost control?

MR. STEVENS:  Recognizing, Commissioner Sword, that this is a settlement so, you know, ordinarily I think I'd be speaking about what the settlement says on behalf of everybody, probably right now, I am going to be speaking on behalf of Enbridge.  So, I don't know whether others would have anything to say.  But my submission is that a DVA is meant to track and either credit or recover costs that really are not-controllable, costs that are outside of the utility's control.  And so, that is why it seemed to be appropriate to allow for cost tracking.  An example there is the addition of the OEB cost assessment account, which has been added as part of Phase II.  I think there is a recognition that over time the scope of the OEB's activities has been increasing and the cost to regulated utilities have been increasing, and it is quite different now than what is in the base for Enbridge's costs.  And so, the parties, I believe, have recognized that is outside of Enbridge's control.  It is not something that it can manage and therefore, within certain parameters, it is fair to have deferral account protection or treatment for that.

MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  The DVAs that are scheduled to be cleared, the DVA accounts right now, and there is understanding there was a settlement agreement on that, there is over two dozen accounts and they are varied.  They are not one like the other on that.  Is the DVA account clearance process the most appropriate vehicle to have these cleared, that DVA process?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I have been fortunate enough to act as Enbridge's counsel on each of the deferral account clearance cases during the last many years and, I guess from my perspective, I think that the process is working well.  Nobody suggested any changes within the context of this case.  It allows for an annual process to review what is happening in these accounts.  I mean, given the size of Enbridge Gas compared to electric utilities, folks don't want to wait for the end of a five-year term to look at what is happening and have visibility into what is happening in accounts.  So, having an annual process with reporting, and with discovery, with the settlement process which gas worked very well, in my view, and potentially a hearing process, allows for the right level of oversight, I would say, during the non-cost-of-service years.

MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  I had a question about storage in terms of that.  The combined utility, could you just refresh how much PJs the combined utility has in storage?  What is the number the combined utility in PJs we have in total storage between the legacy Union and the legacy Enbridge Gas Distribution?

MS. INNIS:  Just a minute.  We will see if we can quickly --


MR. SWORD:  It was over 300 on that.  I apologize for that quick figure.  Was there an opportunity here to include all in-franchise storage these as cost base, given the magnitude of what the two utility's storage portfolio combined will be?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that question.  I think, based upon the issues list, that was certainly a question that was open for parties to explore and come to an agreement upon.  And as you will have seen from the settlement proposal, as part of an overall settlement of all of the storage and gas supply issues, the parties agreed that they were content or they were able to accept a continuation of the status quo, for the time being.

MR. SWORD:  Okay.  Thank you.  One question if I could, and it relates to the marketing, in relation to heat pumps in particular on that.  How do you ensure there is an agreed upon baseline data for describing the cost of a heat pump versus other fuels?  Just taking in mind the electricity tax subsidies, a carbon charge that may or may not be sustained.  Heat pumps enjoy a subsidy.  Does that continue longer term or any possible retrofits required to a building?  If you have a heat pump, how do you get a comparison that parties can agree upon?

MS. INNIS:  I think that is a really fair question, Commissioner Sword.  So there is, as you would have seen from our pre-filed evidence, there is definitely some concerns and some questions about how you provide the information, and so that is something that we will have to work through to determine exactly how we present the information and what caveats are provided and asterisks and fine print and all of that, and what is included in the comparisons.  So that is something that we will be including within the Phase III filing, as well, or later than Phase III, depending on when it is available, so that parties will have a chance to review what is being presented and provide comment on what is being presented, as well.

MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  Presiding Commissioner Moran, I have no more questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Sword.  Commissioner Zlahtic.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Hello and good afternoon.  You will have to bear with me.  I am having some technical problems on my end.  I have a badly behaving mouse here, so if I pause between questions, I am scrolling between different screens.  I have about three monitors in front of me.

Anyways, my first question is with respect to issue number 3 that was settled, and particularly 3A.  You don't need to turn the settlement agreement up unless -- I am sure you have it in front of you.  What 3A stipulates is that ICM projects have to have a threshold of $75 million, and anything under $75 million Enbridge will not seek ICM recovery for.  Is my understanding correct?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct for the in-service capital.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry.  I should have said that.  $75 million, it is a pretty big number.  I am wondering for projects that are under $75 million, is Enbridge confident that it is going to be able to absorb those types of projects within its existing capital budget and within existing rates at the time?

MS. INNIS:  I think we have made a commitment that we will be kind of living within the threshold for the calculation, so we will do what we can to stay to that threshold that we use and manage the spend within it.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  To the extent you can't spend within it, will we be seeing something coming forward at the next rebasing application?

MS. INNIS:  The next rebasing application will reflect what was actually spent in the 2024 through to 2028 period, so to the extent it was more than the threshold, we would be seeking to include that, and if it was less, we would be seeking to include that.  But when it comes time to rebase, we would need to provide justification for the new rate base that we are requesting for 2029 and going forward.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Thank you.  My next question is with respect to the settled issue number 11, and this is the 10 petajoules of market-based storage.  I found the settlement write-up to be kind of lacking in detail, and I started searching through the record, and I couldn't reconcile some of the information for myself, so I have a couple of questions.

So we start with the cost base storage that was settled, the 199.7, which was settled in issue number 9, and that figure is comprised of 99.7 petajoules for the Enbridge Gas Distribution rate zone and 100 petajoules for the Union rate zones.  And then it said that Enbridge had contracted for 26 petajoules of market-based storage, and as a result of the settlement, that market-based amount was reduced by 8 petajoules so that the residual of market-based storage is 18 petajoules, and then you get the total of 217.7 petajoules, being the total amount of storage being held for your in-franchise customers.

With respect to the 8 petajoules, I got the impression that Enbridge had already contracted for that amount of storage that it is now reducing, and what the settlement says is that number will get reduced as contracts expire.  Elsewhere in Enbridge's evidence, and I think it was Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 9, paragraph 46, Enbridge stated that it can decontract from market-based storage.  So what I am trying to understand is what is the status of that 8 petajoules of storage?  Because we are into the heating season.  We are technically in the withdrawal season.  And come 2025, we will be well into the withdrawal season if we have any kind of winter.  So has Enbridge started injecting gas into that 8 petajoules of storage that it is going to reduce?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I may get the dates slightly wrong here, but typically what Enbridge does is it -- you will probably know better than me, Commissioner Zlahtic, but Enbridge does its contracting for the upcoming winter season around, let's say, March or April.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  Leading up to that time, so --


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Beginning of the injection season.

MR. STEVENS:  Even before the beginning of the injection season so that it is in place by the time the injection season starts.  So yes, Enbridge does have 226 PJs of storage for its in-franchise customers that is in place for the 2024/2025 season, and I am quite certain that injections have started into that storage.

The intention of the settlement is that starting at the next contracting opportunity, Enbridge Gas will look to bring itself back down to 217.7 PJs.  So let's say, for example, and I don't have the numbers in front of me, but let's say there is 6 PJs of storage that are expiring.  Enbridge Gas will not seek to recontract that six, and the number in my example would go down to 220 PJs.  And then the following year, the number would come down to 217 by again holding back from recontracting for space that is no longer needed.  So during the current winter season, Enbridge will be at 226 PJs, but that will not be the case for future winter seasons.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  So what is happening with the cost of that associated storage that you agreed to reduce?  It sounds to me that in the 2025 rate year, there will be a cost associated with that 8 petajoules of storage, and how is that cost being recovered?  Because I wouldn't imagine Enbridge is going to eat those costs.

MR. STEVENS:  My understanding is that all of the costs associated with the committed storage for 2025 are properly included within either rates or the storage and transportation deferral account for the EGD rate zone.  I don't believe there is any difference between the parties on that.  The expectation is simply that the decontracting will happen as soon as possible.

While we have been talking, I got a note back confirming that Enbridge will indeed be decontracted down to the 217.7 PJ level as of the next heating season.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  So just a technicality, the word "decontracting" bothers me.  Decontracting implies you are breaking a contract.  Would it be fair to say Enbridge will be exercising its right not to renew the contract, meaning letting it expire?

MR. STEVENS:  That is a better way of saying it.  Thank you.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Just put it in a holdover from the TransCanada days where someone accused distributors of decontracting, when they were in fact exercising their right to let capacity go at the end of its term.

MR. STEVENS:  And, excuse me, to be fair, I am sure I led us down that path.  The wording within the settlement agreement is Enbridge would do the management we are talking about, by not renewing contracts as they expire.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay, fair enough.  Sorry, nothing turned on it.

Then the other provision within No. 11, the settlement condition No. 11, was that:
"Enbridge agreed to report annually on the market-based load balancing purchases it makes for balancing purposes, such as physical storage, synthetic storage, delivered gas purchase through index supply and delivered gas purchased through fixed-price supply."

And you indicate that you report annually.  Report annually where?  Is it going to be something that is part of the DVA that Commissioner Sword was probing?  Or in your RRR filing?  Or where is this filing going to be made?

MR. STEVENS:  The expectation and the commitment is the filing will be made within the DVA proceedings.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Within the DVA proceeding, there is review of what is called the storage and transportation deferral account for Enbridge Gas distribution rate zone, which is where a lot of these costs are resident.  And there is also a commitment, to the extent that some of these costs made their way through the PGVA, that would still be open for discussion within the DVA proceeding of the next year.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  So, I mean, the settlement agreement would have been more accurately stated as that annual requirement would be reported through DVA proceedings before the OEB because, as written, it is kind of vague.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  I think if you look in the fourth paragraph of the wording of item 11, we indicate that we --


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Just give me a second.  Let me scroll there, if you would.  This is my mouse works, yahoo.  Okay, hang on.  Okay, I am scrolling, scrolling, scrolling.  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Stevens, was it the fourth paragraph?

MR. STEVENS:  That is right.  It is just the second sentence of the fourth paragraph.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Yes, okay.  I see that now.  Thank you, I've got it.

I just have one more question with respect to issue number 11.  And, in the settlement agreement, it states that:
"Enbridge will provide reporting on the required in-franchise deliverability requirements above the base level of 4 petajoules."

Can you explain what that is, please?

Hang on, let me restate the question:  So my understanding is that the total amount of firm deliverability that Enbridge holds for serving its in-franchise markets, being the legacy Union and the legacy Enbridge Gas, is 4 petajoules per day.  Is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That is largely correct, Commissioner Zlahtic.  What we have agreed to within this settlement proposal is that is the amount of the total deliverability that is allocated to in-franchise customers.  The balance is allocated to non-utility storage and transportation services.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  So what that is saying is -- what threw me is the 4 petajoules.  And, to me, that is like a volume, an annual volume.  It is the 4 petajoules per day is --


MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  I am sorry.  My bad.  I understand now.

I have a couple of questions still related to this issue that, to my knowledge, didn't come up during discovery or wasn't addressed in evidence.  And it has to do with gas-fired generators that the amalgamated utility now serves.

And, prior to amalgamation, the gas-fired generators that were in Enbridge Gas Distribution's legacy were -- sorry, in Enbridge Gas Distribution's franchise area, were deemed to be ex-franchise customers, obviously because there was Union and Enbridge Gas.

And my understanding is that gas-fired generators in the EGD rate zone pay market-based rates.  And gas-fired generators that are located in the Union rate zones that were deemed, back before amalgamation, to be in-franchise customers, did they pay cost-based rates or market-based rates, because my understanding is they paid cost-based rates?

MS. INNIS:  This is subject to check, but I believe that the customers in the Union rate zone have access to cost-based storage for a portion.  And to the extent that doesn't cover all of their needs, then they would have market-based -- they would sign for market-based storage.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  I mean, feel free to check and correct that, because my understanding is they are all paying cost-based rates.  And I am thinking of generators like Halton Hills, which is a large gas-fired generator, and I am thinking of, say, the St. Clair Energy Centre, and then smaller generators like East Windsor CoGEN.  And, you know, there is a few more I could list:  there is the TransAlta generation in Sarnia.

But anyways, the nub of my question is is those generators are located in Enbridge's franchise area could no longer be called ex-franchise customers; I mean, they are -- it is one utility now.  And it seems to be a bit of a dichotomy that, you know, a carryover with history is that, you know, a certain group of customers pay cost-based rates and others pay market-based rates.

And I guess my question is, is that when the storage contracts expire in the Enbridge Gas Distribution rate zone, will they continue to renew at cost-base -- at market-based rates or cost-based rates?

MS. INNIS:  So firstly, I just wanted to circle back to the original question, so about whether customers in the Union rate zone have access to cost-based storage.  And, for firm deliverability, that get that from cost-based storage.  Gas-fired generators have an unbundled service in the --


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Yes.

MS. INNIS:  -- EGD rate zone, and they are semi-unbundled in the Union rate zone, so slightly different action between those two.  So they only get unbundled service -- sorry, it is a distribution-only service, where a semi-unbundled has some transmission and storage.

So part of the challenge that we have had that you are addressing is that we have customers kind of throughout the province who have different access to different services and different rates.  That is part of what we are addressing through the Phase III part of the application.

So when we look to harmonize the rate zones and harmonize the rate classes, then you would look to have kind of a consistent experience for all customers who are, you know, similarly situated.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Well, thank you.

This question, and my final set of questions that are around issue number 11, I am just reviewing my notes.  Just give me a second.  Okay.  I have it.

So I think the settlement was 62 percent of storage costs would be allocated to your cost-based rates, and 38 percent would be allocated to your unregulated storage business.  And does that split apply, let's say for example, Enbridge needs to drill replacement wells or it needs to drill an observation well, or it needs to replace aboveground storage facilities, like piping and valves?

Would those costs from 2024 onwards, through the term, be allocated in that split, the 68-32?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I think you have noted issue 11, and I believe we are talking about issue 12, now?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Yes, sorry.  I have gone to issue 12; I am sorry, if I misspoke.

MR. STEVENS:  And so, yes, if the additions you are speaking of were to happen in 2024, general storage plant additions, they would be allocated 38 percent to unregulated and 62 percent to regulated.  In future years, that split could change a little bit because it is based on the relative size of the regulated and unregulated storage businesses.  So, in future years, let's say that the unregulated business gets a little bit bigger, then a little bit more of an incremental storage investment would get allocated at that point to the unregulated business.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  So, that -- you're kind of leading me into my next question.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  So, the question about the 100 percent allocation, so that, to the extent that Enbridge delta pressures a pool, all those -- 100 percent of those costs would go to the unregulated storage business because delta pressuring either does one of two things or both, it either increases space, or increases deliverability, or both.  So, 100 percent of those costs would be allocated to the unregulated business?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, that is true.  As long as the cost is entirely related to expanding the storage system, the expansion accrues to the unregulated business and the costs are allocated  to the unregulated business.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Well, that is quite a change, because, I mean, in the past when Enbridge or Union would do work to -- and you characterized it better than I did.  Let's say you are drilling replacement wells, they used to deem it be like-for-like and it was 100 percent allocated to the regulated storage business.  So...

MR. STEVENS:  So, the example that you have given, Commissioner Zlahtic, would now be allocated 62-38.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. STEVENS:  If it is an existing well then that is not deemed to create new capacity, so it would be treated as under the general allocation rather than 100-zero.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay, terrific.  Thank you for that.  Let me just -- I want to scroll through my notes just so I don't have to come back and say, oh, I have got one more question.  I think that was it.  Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Back to you, Commissioner Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Zlahtic.  Commissioner Duff, you are up next.

MS. DUFF:  We can stop sharing the screen, I can assure you I don't have questions on issue number 12.  Let me go in the order of the issues that I'm -- sequentially.  So, issue number 1, I have a question regarding H, and it is on page 15 of the settlement.  And in particular, you mentioned it in your opening remarks regarding any new DVA would have a 3 million annual revenue requirement materiality threshold; I have got that correct?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DUFF:  I am wondering -- I am trying to reconcile this, and full disclosure, I am on the panel of the DVA proceeding.  And I think a number of the parties are, but definitely not every member of this Panel is.  And in that proceeding, has a settlement proposal that has been filed, and it too has not been approved.  I mean, they are both being considered by panels, the EB number is 2024-0125.

In that proceeding there is a proposed DVA that is deferring a cost of 2.6, maximum of 2.6 million.  I am trying to reconcile if it is a cost the revenue requirement would be much less than 2.6.  So, how should I view this?  Does one settlement agreement overrule another?  Or perhaps you can explain; have you thought about this?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  I think we intended to show that we thought about it in the wording of H. Perhaps it is not as clear as it might be.  But what we have said there is that the threshold does not impact current accounts nor does it represent a deadband.  So, this is meant to be prospective.  This agreement here was reached, the one in the Phase II case, was reached after the settlement was reached in the 2023 deferral and variance account proceeding.  So, while they may seem to be at odds, I think it is timing that drives that.  Any new accounts that Enbridge is proposing, following the approval of this Phase II settlement agreement, will have to have an annual revenue requirement of $3 million or more.  But that -- that is not meant to apply to accounts that have already been established or accounts that, for lack of a better term or phrase, are "in the works."

MS. DUFF:  You have asked for a decision on the settlement, November 26.  What if the settlement is approved first in the rebasing?

MR. STEVENS:  But these rules didn't exist at the time that we filed.  The DVA settlement was filed before this settlement was filed.  That agreement was reached weeks before this agreement was reached.  I mean, you will also see, within the context of this case, that parties have agreed to the OEB cost assessment account and have expressly recognized that that account will exist whether or not it is annually meeting this $3 million materiality threshold.

MS. DUFF:  Just for the benefit of everybody else, this is the account that I was referring to in the DVA proceeding.  It is for pilot programs associated with 2025 fugitive emissions.  It is a measurement plan and it is prospective in basis.  So, this is to apply in 2025, and it clearly states that it is for cost; correct?  Up to 2.6 million.  So, I have got those facts right?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  If we could turn to issue number 5, again, this is regarding DVAs.  In the first paragraph there is reference to additional information as set forth in this settlement proposal.  And I wasn't too sure what that additional information was.  Is there a list somewhere of where in this  settlement proposal there is going to be future filing requirements in the DVA proceeding?

MR. STEVENS:  I don't believe, Commissioner Duff, that there is a list.  The two things that I believe we were intending to be referencing here are the items that we have already looked at in issue 11, relating to information about load balancing costs, and the items that can be found in issue 27, related to annual reporting about amounts charged by Enbridge Gas to Enbridge Sustain.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  If we could turn to issue 21, and this is the setting of 2024 rates.  On the treatment of the revenue deficiency for 2024, and your proposed treatment to recover this as a rate rider in 2025, I want to make sure I have got that correct.  It is, what, 8.5 million?  The revenue deficiency for 2024, I want to make sure, conceptually, you are going to recover it in 2025 as a rate rider; is that correct?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DUFF:  So, my question is what is stopping -- or is there anything precluding the OEB from finalizing 2024 rates at this juncture?  For now they're interim.

MR. STEVENS:  Commissioner Duff, the only thing that I am aware of, and I don't know how this gets characterized in terms of interim rates and final rates, is Enbridge Gas currently has both a review motion and an appeal outstanding of the Phase I rates.  And so, pending the outcomes from those processes there could be adjustments.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  But in terms of the deficiencies, the dollars involved in this settlement proposal, they are to be prospectively corrected starting January 1, 2025, the $8.5 million deficiency.  Correct?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, that is the rate rider proposal.

MS. DUFF:  In the second paragraph, I will just look at my questions.  Sorry.  That is fine for 2020.  In 2025, we are now into issue number 22, I want to make sure I understand what is being put in place if we approve the settlement proposal and the draft rate order.  Levellized PREP cost, the Panhandle Projects, the levellized rate which you have included in your draft rate order, should they remain in place unaltered, is it correct that Enbridge will collect the money that it needs to associated with that project, because we are going to talk about that and then talk about what could happen in Phase III.

I just want to -- in terms of today, as I am considering approving the settlement proposal and the draft rate order, if those levellized costs are to remain in place unaltered, Enbridge would continue to remain whole.  Is that correct?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct.  We would collect the 2024 to 2028 amount through that levellized unit rate.

MS. DUFF:  We will talk about Phase III just for a moment.  We may get back to it.  The end of this Phase II proceeding, I should then have my 2024 rates pending the motion, et cetera.  I will have my 2025 rates because then the OEB will have approved an IRM formula.  And then in Phase III, we are going to look at cost allocation and rate design.  I just want to make sure my understanding is correct.  Any changes associated with the Phase III would be applied on a prospective basis.  So is that correct?

Actually, I found -- actually, I found a footnote.  I am not trying to be -- this isn't like a Sherlock Holmes investigation.  I did find it was in a footnote.  I thought, what happens to those rates in Phase III?  Are we ensured that they will be applied prospectively rather than potentially ever going back to 2025?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, those will be applied prospectively.

MS. DUFF:  So that Phase III hearing could get delayed.  No one knows what the schedule is for that.  Again, I am not trying to be pessimistic, but if they were, then this Panel, the Phase II Panel, is ensured, that OEB Panel, that this -- they have the rates in place for 2025 designed to recover what they are intended they will be based on for old rate structure, but they have been designed appropriately to collect what was intended as a result of the Phase II decision.  Thank you.

MS. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DUFF:  Great.  I want to go to issue 24.  That's not it, 25.  There are three parts to this settlement.  The first one is -- this is about IRP.  Has Enbridge Gas appropriately responded to relevant OEB directions regarding commitments in previous proceedings related to the IRP framework?  Part A of that, it seems to me that it -- the parties have settled that this will be deferred to Phase III, this particular aspect.  Is that -- am I paraphrasing that correctly?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I think that is a fair assessment.  Both the reporting is deferred to Phase III and it is expressly said that the reporting is going to be made for consideration by the parties and the OEB.

MS. DUFF:  I am going to ask you to do an undertaking.  I want to be clear.  As a result of approving this settlement proposal, which is the culmination of Phase I, Phase II, what are the issues that would be heard and the commitments made related to Phase III?  This would be a perfect example of one, where a byproduct of approving this Phase II settlement proposal is that there will be a new issue or a new filing done in Phase III, so I am really looking for a complete list from Enbridge's perspective regarding what the Phase III will entail.  Is that understood?  Is that something possible?

MS. INNIS:  Sorry.  Is that the items that were already anticipated to be part of Phase III plus whatever else is coming through the settlement proposal that will be part of Phase III?  Is that what you are asking?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  I mean, yes.  Phase III seems to be growing a little bit.  I want to make sure we get an idea of just how big it is and what it entails, and there should be no ambiguity about what is included and excluded.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Duff, I will propose to mark that.  I will let Mr. Stevens finish first just to ensure that they can actually do that.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly we can make best efforts to inform as to what we say is the full scope of Phase III.  I take it from your question, Commissioner Duff, that you are interested in more than simply what has been moved from Phase II to Phase III.  You are interested in the totality of Phase III?

MS. DUFF:  Because in Phase I, it shouldn't be difficult.  I don't think so.  It should be objective.  But in Phase I originally, like in January of 2024, we had these three phases.  Then as a result -- and that was because of the settlement in Phase I.  And then the Phase I decision moved some issues to Phase III, and then this settlement in terms is moving some issues to Phase III.  So just as we end this proceeding, I just want it clear from Enbridge's perspective what they think is included in Phase III.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Your clarification answered my follow-up, which is I am sure we can provide our best explanation of what we say is part of Phase III.  I can't promise you that is exactly the vision that everybody else has.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, on that point, if I may, recognizing that there will be an issues list process as part of Phase III anyway, I think what we are looking for is just the current understanding of the issues that we know for sure are going into Phase III based on looking at what happened in Phase I and Phase II through the settlement processes, as well.  If you could maybe just canvass the parties just to get their input so we have as good a list as possible.  Not that it necessarily needs a high level of agreement, but this is just a preliminary list that may be subject to change when we get to Phase III.  Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Commissioner Moran, it is Michael Brophy.  I was just going to quickly say that some of what could end up in Phase III could depend on what the OEB Panel decides.  So like an example is issue 7, which includes the items related to what was discussed this morning on the ED motion, et cetera.  Right?  It doesn't explicitly say that that is Phase II.  It just says the Board will consider it.  It wasn't explicit.  Right?  So, you know, Enbridge might put that in one spot versus another, but it is really going to be up to the Board Panel to decide where certain things go.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  I think we understand that.  It is just the current understanding of the list of issues that are left for Phase III at this time, recognizing that some of them may disappear and some of them might get added on, but just a current understanding.

I think, Mr. Stevens, we are just asking you to canvass the other parties to make sure that nothing is missing based on current understanding, and it is all without prejudice anyway.

MR. STEVENS:  We can certainly do that, Commissioner Moran.  My concern is simply around timing, knowing how quickly the settlement is requested for approval so that rates can get in place.  I mean, we can put together the list, but in terms of getting information back and then having further discussions, I am just worried about the timing of getting you that complete on behalf of everybody undertaking in a timely fashion.

MR. MORAN:  Best efforts I think is all we can hope for here, Mr. Stevens.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I propose to mark that.  We don't really have a naming convention, I think, for undertakings during settlement, so I will make one up.  We will call it JS for settlement 1.1.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
UNDERTAKING JS1.1:  TO PREPARE AND FILE A LIST OF OUTSTANDING ISSUES FOLLOWING PHASE II FOR POTENTIAL CONSIDERATION DURING PHASE III.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Back to you, Commissioner Duff.

MS. DUFF:  And still on issue number 25, part B, there is just one sentence that I wasn't sure I understood the intent.  It is the second sentence of part B:
"Enbridge Gas agrees that it will propose an IRP incentive mechanism in its next IRP plan application to the OEB, which will be filed within one year."

The words "incentive mechanism", so we are approving right now, through the settlement we are being asked to approve the incentive mechanism that will apply for the remaining four years of the rate term.

Would this IRP incentive mechanism affect that in any way?  Is it something that is external or exogenous to the formula that we are being asked to approve in issues 1 and 2?

MR. STEVENS:  That is certainly my understanding, Commissioner Duff, is that we would be talking about an incentive mechanism that would relate specifically to IRP plans, something that would say, for example, "Here is how Enbridge Gas could be incented to replace a particular facilities project with a non-facilities alternative and earn something on that investment, even though it is not capital."  So it would be project specific.

Now the mechanism might apply to future IRP plans, but it wouldn't apply more broadly to the full revenue requirement, if that is your question.

MS. DUFF:  Sure.  Thank you.  I did have one question regarding page 40 of the agreement.  It is the accounting order for the earnings sharing mechanism account.

Now there is just one sentence that I want to make sure there is no misunderstanding of what the intent was.  First of all, it is not intended that this is a cumulative account over the remaining four years?

MS. INNIS:  That is correct.  It would be disposed of annually --


MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MS. INNIS:  -- to the extent that there is a balance.  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Because the concern was it was -- at the end of the third paragraph:
"The balance of this account together with the carrying charges will be disposed of in a manner designated by the OEB in a future rate application."

But the intent of the account is that it is non-cumulative --


MS. INNIS:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- depending on what a future panel does?

MS. INNIS:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.  All right.  If you just talk about what is going to happen during this rate term as we established, once this settlement and Phase II is complete.

So, on the assumption that the OEB were to approve the settlement and  draft rate order, the subsequent events that would affect Enbridge's rate making from today till the end of 2028 would be you are going to have annual applications for rate adjustments.  Is that correct?

MS. INNIS:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  You are going to have DVA proceedings in order to clear historical balances?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DUFF:  Will those DVA proceedings sometimes include more than historical balances? They could involve the creation of a new DVA?

MS. INNIS:  Potentially, they could.

MS. DUFF:  They could include new pilot programs being undertaken, and cost deferrals, through DVAs?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, potentially.  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  So there is the DVA proceeding.  Then there will be annual gas reviews, gas cost reviews that will still be anticipated to be reviewed by the OEB?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, that part is true, although typically they have not been rate-making proceedings.

MS. DUFF:  Point taken.  What we are expecting during the next five years, there will be an IRP.  We just called it -- that was an IRP plan; it was in issue 25.  What did you call it?  You are going to have an IRP plan application that will happen within the next five years.  We know about that, today.

MR. STEVENS:  I think it is anticipated there could be multiple IRP plan applications.  They are similar to an LTC application.

MS. DUFF:  It will be your QRAM, automatically; we will keep going with that.

Have I missed anything?  What else will we have?  What else will we see, with Enbridge, to touch your rates?  I mean, there is a pending or potential IRM -- I mean ICM.  Mr. Shepherd, I see your picture up, but we will let Enbridge respond first.

MR. STEVENS:  So, certainly, there would be both a DSM plan application as well as related DSM account clearance applications in certain years.  I anticipate there would likely be some leave-to-construct applications.

MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.

MR. STEVENS:  The OEB may have policy processes.  We know for example that there is likely to be something, a generic process, about customer revenue horizon.  We don't know how that would impact rates, whether that would impact rates, when that would impact rates.  But that is something we believe is going to be happening, based upon the current policy framework.

There could well be other processes like that.  Cost of capital comes to mind; it is not completed yet.  We don't know how it will show its way through, But I think, generally, you have captured the main regular applications that are likely to happen.  I am sorry.  I am reminded there is also an annual application for the federal carbon charge.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  The only reason I raise this is because we are approving the base rates now.  And there is a number of group 1 and group 2 variance accounts, DVAs, that could affect -- that affect rates that consumers pay that are not part of base rates; we are finalizing the base rate part today.  Is that a correct characterization?

MS. INNIS:  I think that is correct.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd, did you have a question?  Or?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I was going only to mention the DSM application due in the next couple of weeks.

MS. DUFF:  Those are all my questions, Commissioner Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Commissioner Elsayed?

MR. ELSAYED:  Good afternoon, everyone.  My questions are all, I think, related to issue number 7.  Just to remind everybody, issue 7 says how should Enbridge be incentivized to enter in economic alternatives to gas infrastructure, and how should a recovery of its costs be treated.

So my first part of the question is that the settlement proposal includes a provision for the so-called asset life extension plan, and that the incremental O&M cost of this plan would be recorded in a deferral account.

So my first part of the question is was there any discussion or anything recorded in a similar proposal about either the scope or the quantum of the expenditures in this asset life extension plan?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Commissioner Elsayed.  The settlement agreement does not speak to any anticipated amounts or cap of amounts, if that is what you are asking.  Enbridge described the scope of what it has in mind for the asset life extension program in the pre-filed evidence.

I would say to the extent that you are worried about sort of what these numbers could become, as you recognize the amounts that Enbridge would seek to recover additionally will be recorded in an account, and no amounts will be cleared from that account until they have been properly reviewed, discussed and approved.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thanks.  I am assuming that the purpose of this is, given the wording of issue number 7, to reduce the need for new infrastructure, basically extend the life of existing infrastructure.

So the purpose of my question is really to determine the extent of which Enbridge, at some point, will determine how much to spend on this.  Because, I suppose, if it is -- if you take one extreme, and the expenditure on this plan is minimal, then I am not sure if you will be able to achieve your objective of avoiding capital -- or unnecessary capital spending.

MR. STEVENS:  I would hope that the evidence that Enbridge presents would address any such concerns.  If we could turn, please, to page 43 of 44 of the filling, that is the accounting for the new asset life extension cost deferral account.  Thank you.  You can see, in the second sentence, Enbridge Gas has agreed that it will provide evidence about the cost associated with the work or projects avoided, downsized, or delayed because of the ALE work.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And that applies -- does it apply to both O&M and capital expenditures?

MR. STEVENS:  The account is only directed at O&M expenditures.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And it does say that the incremental O&M cost of the asset life extension plan would be recorded in a deferral account, as you have showing.  So, can you think of one or two examples of what activity you will do that will fall under this definition of an O&M life extension activity?

MR. STEVENS:  Just one moment, please.  I don't know if this is as specific as what you would want to hear, Commissioner Elsayed, but the general idea is where Enbridge identifies through its EDIMP program, its distribution and integrity management program, rather than replacing a section of pipe it can effect some repairs and then put in place a monitoring solution, then those would be operational costs or O&M costs that are expended in place of replacing a pipe or capital costs, and it would be those sorts of O&M costs, assuming they are incremental, which could be recorded into this account.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So, by incremental you mean an expenditure as you just described to repair a section of pipe, for example, that may not have been anticipated in the regular O&M program?

MR. STEVENS:  It could be that, but it could also be a section of pipe that was anticipated to need to be replaced and instead this alternative of extending the life is put into place.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  The second part of my question is related to also issue number 7, is that there is in the settlement proposal also includes the provision for something called future system pruning pilot projects.  So, the parties agreed that if Enbridge identifies one or two projects, pilot projects, that would cost less than or equal to $5 million, and are supported by the integrity resource planning working group, that OEB approval is not required.  So, my first question, again, is how would you -- if it is less than or equal to 5 million, I mean, theoretically they could be a very minor amount and, again, system pruning has the same objective to reduce the need for gas infrastructure.  How would you determine if the magnitude of a system pruning project is appropriate?

MR. STEVENS:  I think Enbridge Gas read and understood the direction in the Phase I decision to consider system pruning opportunities.  Enbridge Gas, as I understand it, has been discussing this with the IRP technical working group, along with a number of other initiatives.  And I think there is common understanding that it is something that is likely to start on a small scale.  So, Enbridge Gas -- my understanding is that Enbridge Gas will be reviewing its system to come up with one or two candidates that are well suited for a system pruning project, to remove a small number of customers, rather than committing new capital dollars to the part of the system that is serving those customers.  Enbridge Gas intends to work with the IRP technical group to confirm that these are, in fact, appropriate vehicles to test, or locations to test, system pruning.  And based on that, will be -- will then have, I think, the confidence and the comfort to know that what is being proceeded with is something that is generally accepted.  And on that front I would note that OEB Staff are part of the IRP Technical Working Group.  So, through that the OEB, as an institution, will be aware of what is happening also.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  My last question is:  Would there be a vehicle by which Enbridge in the future would report on what system pruning projects have taken place and the scope of these projects?

MR. STEVENS:  At very least this would be described, both in terms of progress before it is done and in terms of completion after it is done, as part of the annual report of the IRP technical working group.  That report is filed each year as part of the deferral and variance account proceeding.  It includes Enbridge's summary of the activities taken during the last year.  It also includes comments from the members of the technical working group about their prospective about what's happened during the previous year.  As I say, it is filed with the OEB, so it is available for the OEB's understanding and review soon after the relevant time period is done.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much.  These are all my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Elsayed.  I have a few questions as well.  Starting with the IRM settlement, the settlement says that the IRM piece of it is subject to the outcome of the unsettled issue, which I understand to be with respect to revenue decoupling.  I wonder if you could help us understand what the scope of that is.  Could it go all the way to:  Here is a completely different formula based on an outcome from the unsettled issue hearing?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that.  I would characterize it quite differently, in fact.

MR. MORAN:  I was hoping I might try and understand.

MR. STEVENS:  Issue 1 is settled.  The parties have agreed upon the parameters of the price cap incentive rate-making mechanism.  What is said is that nothing in the settlement of the issue precludes adding an appropriate mechanism to operate in conjunction with the IRM framework that would decouple revenue from customer numbers.  So, the parties have agreed that all of the parameters of the IRM are set.  The question is simply whether there ought to be some additional mechanism to go alongside.

MR. MORAN:  So, hypothetically, if there is a mechanism that is in conflict with the other parts of the agreed upon mechanism, if I understand what you said, that would be out of bounds?

MR. STEVENS:  I missed the last part of your statement.  That would be?

MR. MORAN:  Out of bounds.

MR. STEVENS:  That is certainly Enbridge Gas' view of the settlement.

MR. MORAN:  We are just trying to understand what the scope is of, you know, amendments to the -- to the formula.  Is there anything else you want to add to help us understand what the scope of the possible might be?

MR. STEVENS:  I really think that the settlement needs to speak for itself because I am only speaking for Enbridge.  I believe that it is quite clear that the parameters are settled and that the item under issue 7 is additional to what has been settled.

MR. MORAN:  Continuing with item number 1 on page 15, there is a $1 million adjustment to base rates to reflect services to be paid for by Enbridge Sustain in the amount of $1 million.  Do I understand that to mean that Enbridge Sustain is going to purchase $1 million worth of services in 2025, and that is why there is this reduction in rate base?  In base rate?  Sorry.

MR. STEVENS:  I would characterize it slightly differently.  I would say it is a recognition that Enbridge Gas did not include any payments from Enbridge Sustain to Enbridge Gas for services received within the base revenue requirement that was approved in the O&M budget in Phase I.  We recognize that we say that was because of timing.  But in any event, this is meant to recognize that Enbridge Gas, had it reflected the amounts it expected to receive from Enbridge Sustain, would have included effectively a $1 million credit for ratepayers.  That number, as you can see, is subject to review each year as part of the DVA proceedings -- that is in issue 27 -- to see what the actual experience is in future years.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  The formula itself, the X factor, of course, has two components to it.  One is the productivity factor, which, if I understand it, reflects productivity within the industry as a whole, and the other is the stretch factor, which, as I understand it, reflects productivity within the company.  Within the Ontario economy, Enbridge is essentially the only game in town in the gas utility business, with the exception of a couple very small players.  On what basis would you say that it is appropriate to signal, given that Enbridge is the primary player in the Ontario economy, that a zero productivity factor would be appropriate?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I am concerned about getting beyond the words of the settlement in representing what others would say.  What I will say, though, in response to that question is there are only two expert reports in this case, one from OEB Staff, one from Enbridge Gas.  Both of them included a productivity factor of zero or less.

MR. MORAN:  Recognizing that you can only speak for Enbridge and noting that the settlement agreement says what it says, again, my question is on what basis is it appropriate to assume no productivity gains within the industry as a whole, given that it is primarily Enbridge to begin with?

MR. STEVENS:  I would suggest that Enbridge and OEB Staff both follow the OEB's expected methodological process to determine what is an appropriate productivity factor.  Both filed reports from recognized experts, and each of them landed on a number of zero or less, so I think that is ample evidence to support that outcome.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  On page 15, and maybe you could pull this up, paragraph H, this is probably just a picky point.  The language that is used there says that for the establishment of new deferral and variance accounts, a $3 million annual revenue requirement materiality threshold will apply.  I am assuming what is intended there is not the establishment but that Enbridge would not apply for approval of a new deferral and variance account unless it meets the materiality threshold.  Would that be correct?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that is absolutely fair, Commissioner Moran.  I just point to the circumstance that happens sometimes where Enbridge has a different view as to what would be recorded in an account versus what others might argue.  Then we get into a question of whether, in fact, the materiality or the expected amount in the account exceeds $3 million or not.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  But that would be addressed in the proceeding in which you apply.  Right?

MR. STEVENS:  That is true.

MR. MORAN:  Again, I think you are agreeing that that is a  clarification here.  It is not that we don't have a role to play in determining whether the panel should be established in the first place.  This is really intended to say Enbridge isn't going to apply for one unless it meets a $3 million revenue requirement materiality, recognizing that parties can disagree whether that is true or not.

MR. STEVENS:  We think that is a fair statement.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Issue number 3, which deals with the $75 million threshold for ICM, how was that threshold determined in relation to the asset management plan?

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry.  I don't think I understand the question.

MR. MORAN:  You have got an asset management plan that looks out over a few years.  Right?  It identifies the capital program that you want to pursue, and in effect, you've got a capital budget envelope to operate within.  I am just trying to understand.  In terms of seeking ICM funding for projects that are over a threshold of $75 million, how does that tie in with your asset management plan and your capital -- approved capital budget envelope?

MS. INNIS:  So the asset management plan would help to support what our capital budget expectations are for any given year, and we would look and see what does that -- what does the total capital expenditure look like, and how does that relate to the ICM threshold that we calculate?  To the extent we have exceeded the ICM threshold, then we would only seek approval for a project that exceeds an in-service capital -- that is an in-service capital of $75 million or greater.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  And given that you always have some ability to manage the scheduling of projects within the asset management plan, how would that play into determining whether a project that is over $75 million in a particular year couldn't be accommodated within existing rates by shuffling some of the projects around from year to year?

MS. INNIS:  Every year we go through our regular process, which is optimization, and we would look to see what can we do, and is there anything we can push forward or move back.  How does that all work, and how does it relate to that overall kind of ICM threshold?  And then to the extent we do need to spend in excess of that threshold, again, we would look to see if we had any projects that were at an in-service capital of $75 million or greater, and that would be when we would potentially apply for an ICM --


MR. MORAN:  So you would agree that is something that we should take into account, then, if you do actually apply for ICM funding?

MR. STEVENS:  I think the difference there is eligibility to apply versus approval of the application.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Elsayed asked a couple of questions on asset life extension on item number 7.  I listened to your answers.  I am still struggling to understand what is meant by "incremental O&M costs" that are triggered by asset life extension.  Recognizing that you've got an O&M budget.  O&M is utilized to maintain and operate the system regardless of whether you are extending it or putting in or just continuing to operate because it is still in good shape, or whether you are replacing with new assets that also require operational maintenance.  I am trying to understand what actually is meant by incremental O&M.  The reason that I think we need a better understanding of this is that you are proposing a deferral account to track what you call incremental O&M, and I am just wondering typically when somebody wants an accounting order, before we approve it, we want to make sure that there is a good understanding of what it is that is supposed to be recorded in there.

Your draft accounting order doesn't contain any definitions, and the settlement proposal just says "incremental O&M associated with asset life."  But we don't really have anything in front of us to help understand what truly is meant by incremental O&M.

Can you help us on that?

MR. STEVENS:  Commissioner Moran, in order to fully answer your question, I would appreciate just a few moments, and perhaps we will still have another break this afternoon, just to refresh our memories about what is in the evidence.  I don't want to speak beyond what is in the evidence; that is the basis on which everybody reached agreement.

But I think I would do a disservice to it by reciting from memory, right now.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  No, that is fair.  Let's park this, and we will come back to it when you have had a chance to do that.

Again, Commissioner Elsayed had some questions about system pruning.  And I have some additional questions with respect to the commitment.

Many years ago it feels, there was a proceeding that established something called an IRP framework which required Enbridge to come forward with two pilot projects within two years.  Here we are, way past that deadline, with only one pilot project on the table before us.

And so I guess my question is, you know, what are the consequences if you don't come forward with a system pruning pilot project by Q1 of 2026, which is as I understand the commitment?

MR. STEVENS:  I will say that we are making that commitment in conjunction with all the parties to this settlement, and we intend to live up to it.  And we would expect that parties might have their own ideas as to what the consequences are, should the deadline not be met.  But it is certainly not something that has been talked about, and it is certainly not something that is set out within the settlement agreement.  So I can't speak to what the actual consequences are or should be.

MR. MORAN:  So if we were to add to the settlement agreement a penalty, let's say a $5 million penalty if you fail to meet the commitment, what would your position be on that?

MR. STEVENS:  My position would be that is not the settlement that was agreed upon.

MR. MORAN:  Right -- the settlement is silent on consequences?

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I think we can presume the settlement talks about everything it intended to talk about.  There is a lot of moving parts in this settlement.  If we start trying to pick and choose and add things and take things away, it no longer represents the compromise the parties have made.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So you are suggesting that the intent of the parties was there to be no consequences?

MR. STEVENS:  I am suggesting that the parties did not speak to what the consequences would be.  And I imagine that the parties were confident that if there need to be consequences in the future, that can be dealt with in the future.  But let's assume good faith here.

MR. MORAN:  So what is the difference between dealing with it now and dealing with it in the future?  What would be the difference, given your answer on that?

MR. STEVENS:  For system pruning?  Just off the top of my head, an important difference is this has never been done in Ontario.  We don't know what roadblocks we are about to encounter.  We don't know how easy it is to find a suitable location.  We don't know how much difference there could be between the working group and Enbridge as to what is the proper scope.  And so there is a lot of things that could drive timing.  And to pre-agree on a penalty, when those things aren't known, to me, (a) it goes well beyond what the settlement says and, (b) it is just not necessary.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  One follow-up question then:  Enbridge and the working group have been working together for many years now, trying to establish some level of consensus around pilot projects, and that hasn't worked very well.

How do we avoid that problem with this one?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that is something, Commissioner Moran, with respect, that is probably going to be talked about in Phase III.  Enbridge Gas has agreed and the parties have agreed that Enbridge Gas will file a report on its progress on IRP commitments, and that will be filed for the consideration of the OEB as I mentioned in response to some earlier questions.  Effectively, that moves part of issue 25 to Phase III.

MR. MORAN:  Moving on to issue number 9, it is a storage-related question.  Commissioner Zlahtic already canvassed with you the fact that you have got what used to be ex-franchise customers now in franchise.  And so I have one follow-up question:  To the extent that all of -- to use the example that he used and that you commented on, of generators -- to the extent we now have a group, two groups of generators who are paying different rates, is there anything that we should be concerned about with respect to discriminatory rate making?

MR. STEVENS:  We say no.  We say that the issue of harmonization of rates is on the table and is going to be dealt with in Phase III.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So there may be an issue of discriminatory rate making, but you are saying the solution, if that is the case, will be addressed in Phase III?

MR. STEVENS:  Well, we are making harmonized rate proposals in Phase III that we say will result in just and reasonable rates.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And to the extent that there is an issue around discriminatory rate making, the option exists to address that in Phase III, if I understand your answer?

MR. STEVENS:  I have known the generators to be very good at standing up for their own interests.  And I fully expect that if they saw that issue, they would bring it up.

MR. MORAN:  I have a question on issue number 5.  I wonder if you could just pull up page 18?  So there is an agreement in item number 5 amongst the parties that it is okay to continue with the process as it has been up to, now, for annual proceedings.

I just wanted for the purposes of clarification that this isn't intended to bind the Ontario Energy Board in terms of how it might want to do things in the future.  So, for example, if the OEB was of the view that it might be more efficient from a regulatory efficiency point of view maybe to do something like this every two years, or to defer it for a year, or whatever reason, we are not bound by the fact the parties have agreed that doing it in any way is okay.  I just wanted to clarify that.

MR. STEVENS:  Recognizing that the OEB is the architect of its own processes, I would say that the intention here is to create a rate-making framework for the next five years.  So the intention here is to ask the OEB to approve that the current deferral and variance account reporting and clearance mechanism will be applying for the next four years, and to indicate its acceptance of that.

MR. MORAN:  And if we prefer to maintain some flexibility, does that kill the settlement proposal?

MR. STEVENS:  We haven't had that discussion.

MR. MORAN:  And what would your view be, in that discussion?

MR. STEVENS:  I think I would have to take that away, Commissioner Moran.  It is certainly not something I could answer on the spot today.  Again, it goes beyond, (a) what has been in place for many years and, (b) what the parties have agreed upon here.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

I have a question with respect to the new deferral account for costs, for the cost assessment.  Elsewhere, you have indicated or the parties have agreed that there is a $3 million materiality threshold.

How come there is no similar -- how come that threshold doesn't apply here?

MR. STEVENS:  All I can say, Commissioner Moran, is this represents a compromise between the parties.  It is intentional in the way that it is created and the way that it is worded.  And it is intended to, essentially, operate as an exception to the general rule.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So, just looking at what has happened prior to Phase II, the OEB cost assessment cost was included in the O&M that was agreed to in the settlement agreement in Phase I, and the existing deferral accounts that the legacy companies had were closed.  So, this is -- is it fair to say that this is putting back into play what was originally there for both companies?

MR. STEVENS:  This is putting back into place a mechanism that has some similarities to what did exist previously.

MR. MORAN:  And those accounts did have a materiality threshold but this one doesn't.  Again, we are just trying to understand what is different.  Beyond I take it I understand the stock answer, which is that is what we have agreed to.  I am just wondering if there is any justification that you can point to beyond the stock answer?

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I will say two things about that.  First of all, my recollection is the Enbridge Gas Distribution account had no materiality threshold.  And secondly, this account does have a $2 million materiality threshold that can be seen at the top of page 36.  And I believe that is higher than the $1 million threshold that existed for the prior Union Gas account of similar nature.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, thank you.  On item number 6, with the earning sharing mechanism, as I understand what has been agreed to at page 17, is that the earning savings mechanism is based on the current return on equity which is 9.21 percent.  And then there a footnote, again, just to help the Panel understand the import of the footnote there is agreement that it should be 9.21 but Enbridge is -- I will put this, is free to, I guess, seek something different in part of the costs of -- as part of the cost of capital proceeding, and whatever the OEB decides there would then impact what has been agreed to here.  Do we have that accurately?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that is fair, except for the fact that it is open for all parties to make whatever submissions they see fit in the cost of capital proceeding.  It could that be other parties are arguing for a lower ROE.

MR. MORAN:  And if this Panel was to say, no, we are good with the 9.21 for the next four years, what would your response be to that?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I am afraid it is the same response as throughout.  This represents, you know, a comprehensive outcome based on weeks of negotiations and untold number of compromises.  And we can't just start pulling a string and stop.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  In number 7, at page 20, there is a commitment to hold two stakeholder sessions in advance of the next rebasing proceeding.  And it lists what would be the topics for those stakeholder sessions.  How would the Phase I directions from the OEB play into those sessions?  There is no mention of them but, you know, for example, risk assessment associated with the energy transition review of depreciation policy to take into account the energy transition; how would those issues play out in these stakeholder sessions?

MS. INNIS:  Yes, I can answer that.  So, I think the intent of this section of the settlement proposal was particularly on those two pieces to make sure that they were going to be reflected in those stakeholder sessions.  We would also, though, have in the stakeholder session updates on the various different streams of work that are taking place to bring us towards the next rebasing.  So, whichever external expert analysis or whatever internal analysis we have been doing, that would make sense for us to share with folks and get feedback from folks, that would be part of it as well.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  All right.  So, just to confirm, what is agreed to here is adding to what you would be doing in stakeholder sessions anyway and it is not meant to be exclusive?

MS. INNIS:  Correct, it is not meant to be exclusive.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Number 20, the site remediation fund.  I just want to confirm that the funds that are currently being collected in rates in 2024 are in fact being segregated and available for use for site remediation.  Is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Just to confirm, you are asking whether the SRC funds are currently being segregated and available for site restoration purposes?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, based on the Phase I decision that addressed the problem of the unfunded liability that has grown over the years.

MR. STEVENS:  I can certainly represent that Enbridge intends to continue to be in full compliance with the Phase I decision.  I think we would want to take that away and just confirm the answer to your specific question.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And we will add that to the list that we started a few minutes ago, we can check that on the break.

Issue number 24, it deals with, I guess, what has been described as energy comparison information at page 34.  I guess, I am puzzled as to why it has taken so long to get to this point, given the Phase I decision was released in December of last year with, I guess, what we thought was a pretty clear direction on what needed to be done.  I saw the evidence that you filed which said that, well, we can't really do -- it is too complicated to do a cost comparison with cold climate electric heat source pumps, but now within 45 days, I guess, you are ready to roll it.  I guess, what changed?  And why did it take so long to get here, given the clear direction you were given in the Phase I decision?

MR. STEVENS:  I can't speak, Commissioner Moran, to what has changed.  I mean, I can represent that work started once the direction was given.  What I would underline is that Enbridge Gas has not committed that it will have these new materials out in 45 days.  Enbridge Gas continues to work on the new materials.  Simply what Enbridge Gas is saying is that it will stop using existing materials within 45 days and then when the new materials are ready they will be filed with the OEB.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  My apologies, Mr. Stevens, I think I wasn't clear enough on my question.  I was actually focused on, you know, the fact that it took up until now and 45 days from November 4th to just decide not to use the existing insufficient information.  And so, why did that take so long?  We identified in the decision -- back in Phase I decision the problem with the fact that it was an incomplete set of information.  Why did it take a whole year to get that information if you weren't ready to do the next part?

MR. STEVENS:  I think Enbridge wanted to have the new information ready to go when it stopped using the old information.  But I apologize, sir, I am not really close to that particular work.  I can say, again, and I know I am a broken record on this, that this is a compromise that all parties agreed that they could support.

MR. MORAN:  Going forward, I guess.  And then I think you provided some information about how the validity of new information would be assessed.  Could you just remind me of what the proposal is on that front?

MR. STEVENS:  So, I don't think it is anything more than what is written in the single sentence paragraph at the bottom of number 24 that is in front of us here.

MR. MORAN:  So, we would be looking at this in Phase III, but there is a little proviso in there that says unless it is not ready by Phase III, the 45-day period, I guess, will expire before the Phase III proceeding hearing starts.  So, I am just trying to understand what the box might be if it turns out that that information isn't available as part of the proceeding.

MR. STEVENS:  I believe the expectation is the materials will be filed in the next appropriate proceeding.  So, we know, for example, that there is an annual deferrals account proceeding which is filed in or around the end of May each year.  This could fit in within that filing.  There is an annual rate filing each year, which happens a little later in the summer.  As Commissioner Duff pointed out, the OEB is not done with Enbridge Gas.  There is going to be a succession of future proceedings, and there will be opportunity for this to be filed within a process where there is oversight, if indeed the materials are not complete in time for Phase III.

MR. MORAN:  Last set of questions I have are with respect to Enbridge Sustain.  So the first question is why is it appropriate for any utility resources to be provided to Enbridge Sustain, given that Enbridge Sustain is not in the utility business and Enbridge Gas is?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I don't think this is something addressed for the settlement, but I would say that the Affiliate Relationships Code is meant to dictate the rules that apply when a utility is providing services to an affiliated entity.  Enbridge Gas is fully aware of those rules and is following those rules.  Enbridge Sustain is being created as an affiliate, so those rules will officially apply.  The OEB has compliance oversight over making sure that everything within the ARC is being respected and followed.  And on that basis, the OEB has effectively allowed that utilities can provide services to other entities within their corporate family.

MR. MORAN:  There is a reference to a customer confusion study.  I wonder if you could help us understand what the potential source of confusion might be that would have to be studied two years from now.  Is it because the word "Enbridge" appears in the name of both companies, Enbridge Gas and Enbridge Sustain?  Is that the source of potential confusion?

MR. STEVENS:  I can only speak for myself and for Enbridge.  I don't want to give away any confidences of what was spoken about at the settlement conference, but I would say this is intended to ensure that customers aren't being led to believe they are dealing with the utility when, in fact, they are dealing with Enbridge Sustain.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Shepherd, did you want to add in something?

MR. SHEPHERD:  When Enbridge was last in this business in an unregulated business of this type and spun it off to what is now Enercare, there was a period of time when many customers were confused about whether they were dealing with a separate company or the utility, so this study is intended to ensure that that doesn't happen again.  We are not suggesting that Enbridge is doing anything wrong, only that the last time it happened, it was a problem, and customers need to be protected from that problem.

MR. MORAN:  So I guess I am just getting at what is the point of the study?  I mean, if people are potentially going to be confused because Enbridge Gas and Enbridge Sustain show up and say, "Hi, I am from Enbridge Sustain, I am from Enbridge Gas," isn't it pretty obvious already that customers might think they are very related companies?  In fact, legally I guess they will be, because they are affiliates.  Isn't that going to be a point of confusion just right off the top?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't know.  It depends on how the company markets itself.  And keep in mind that a key part of the study is if there is confusion, what are the solutions?  The idea is not to slam Enbridge.  The idea is to make sure the customers are not confused.

MR. MORAN:  I understand that.  I am also thinking back in history when the gas marketers hit the pavement and knocked on people's doors wearing utility uniforms that didn't say Enbridge, but they said, "I am from the gas company."  They were selling gas, so technically that was true, but it was huge confusion because people just assumed they were from Enbridge.  I mean, Enbridge wrote letters about this at the time.  I am just wondering, if you can have confusion where someone just says, "I am from the gas company," which is technically true, do we really need a study to determine that there might be a real risk of confusion when someone says, "I am from Enbridge Sustain or I am from Enbridge Gas"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are hoping that Enbridge will not do that this time.  We don't expect they will.  But if they do, the solutions are relatively easy and should be found in a study.  I am sorry.  David, please interject.

MR. STEVENS:  I think that is fair.  Again, I prefer that we not start from the proposition that things are going to go wrong.

MR. MORAN:  I wasn't suggesting that that is the starting proposition, I was just looking at the logic of Enbridge showing up in the name of two companies and whether it seems obvious or not, that people might end up being confused just because the name Enbridge is there.  It is not impugning anybody in this.  But okay, I hear you.

So there is also agreement that Enbridge Sustain's access to customer information would be through the Green Button process.  What does that achieve in terms of protecting ratepayers?

MR. STEVENS:  I believe the intention of 27D, sub 4, is to make sure that Enbridge Sustain doesn't have any better or different access to Enbridge Gas utility customer information than any other authorized contractor whose customer asks for information through the Green Button program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, the way I have reported it to my clients last week, in fact, is the Green Button program is a structured program for sharing of information with the utility in which fairness is built right in, and so follow the rules, contractors, and Enbridge Sustain will not have an advantage over you at all.

MR. MORAN:  Again, just to help me understand, this new company called Enbridge Sustain, their only access to customer information would be through Green Button, as opposed to through Enbridge Gas resources, and that would be on the same basis as members of, Mr. Shepherd, the association that you represent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  How does customer consent to give that information, how is it obtained under the Green Button approach?  Is it a generic authorization or is it on a specific program or whatever request-based kind of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your contract with the customer must expressly state that the utility -- give consent to the utility sharing information with, in this case, the affiliate or the contractor.  The Enbridge Sustain contracts already have that provision in them, and many contracts of other contractors are starting to have that provision added for the same reason.  Green Button is going to be valuable to serving customers.

MR. MORAN:  How does that work if the Enbridge Sustain workforce is not independent of Enbridge Gas and that part of the resources that Enbridge Gas is providing to Enbridge Sustain is actually workforce?  Like, how does that work?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not expected that, maybe now but certainly soon, that the employees or the people who work for Enbridge Sustain will be Enbridge Gas employees.  It is not expected that to be the case.  I don't -- it is possible, but maybe David can fill us in a little more on that.

MR. STEVENS:  I think that is fair, but I think additionally the Affiliate Relationships Code already takes this into account.  It says that parties can't -- a utility can't share employees with an affiliate where those employees have access to customer information.

MR. MORAN:  So what does that mean for employees that don't have access to customer information?  What would those resources look like within Enbridge Gas in support of Enbridge Sustain?  I mean, as a practical example, I mean, you have got a group of very knowledgeable, skilled people who are working on the demand-side management programs and know a lot about what the offerings are and have a lot of customer information about who is participating and all of that.  I assume that based on what I just heard, none of those people would be able to provide services to Enbridge Sustain.  Would that be fair?

MR. STEVENS:  I might differentiate between none of those people would be able to, versus none of these people are likely to.  I mean, the intention is that Enbridge Sustain has its own people who are creating and operating and running its own programs.  I mean, that is seen already, and it will continue to be seen even more as the affiliate is created.  The shared services are more in the nature of lawyers who are looking at contracts.  Maybe in the early days, it doesn't make sense for Enbridge Sustain to have its own in-house lawyer.  So they will be looking to an Enbridge resource to look at the contracting arrangements with a third-party service provider.

It could be other similar kinds of support mechanisms.  It is not necessarily the day-to-day running of the business, where somebody spends their morning doing DSM and their afternoon doing Enbridge Sustain.  That is not the plan.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Fair enough.  And so, based on what we have heard, then I am assuming that we can certainly acknowledge these clarifications in any decision we might make to approve the settlement proposal.  Correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That is fine.  But I would say that Mr. Shepherd is very experienced in these matters.  He is representing the contractors.  He has had access to all the documents.  You know, there have been some discussions over which documents he can see, but he has had access to a variety of documents.  And Mr. Shepherd on behalf of his clients, and his clients themselves, have signed on to this settlement.

So I say that should give the OEB the comfort it needs that industry feels like they can accept the set of circumstances as exist, right now.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  And I think I heard Mr. Shepherd agree that we could reference the clarifications that we just got.  So I think we are all on the same page.  Thank you.  All right.

So I think that is the end of my questions.  So I guess the next question, Mr. Stevens, you wanted to check on something.  Actually, before I get to next steps here, Mr. Elson, did you have a --


MR. ELSON:  I just had a question, Mr. Chair.  You had asked a while back for Enbridge's interpretation of some wording on page 20.  And I don't know if I should speak up if my interpretation is slightly different, or not; that was pertaining to the relationship between the unsettled issue and the IRM framework.

So I am in your hands.  I am happy -- I think I am not a hundred percent in agreement, but certainly not a hundred percent in disagreement with the way it was characterized by Mr. Stevens.  Should I pipe up or be quiet?

MR. MORAN:  No.  Let's hear what you have to say, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  This was the discussion about the wording on page 20, which says:
"Nothing in the settlement of any issues precludes an OEB decision implementing an appropriate mechanism that would operate in conjunction with the IRM framework described in issue 1 to decouple revenue from customer numbers."

And I would agree that that means that the implementation mechanism couldn't involve a wholesale change to the IRM framework, but it wouldn't preclude, for example, adjustments to parameters that are consistent with the agreed-upon framework.

And we wouldn't want to have, you know, an idea that -- and I am not suggesting anyone is intending on a sort of gotcha, but that there is like a tiny little piece that, you know, precludes implementing this proposal.

Really, the wording is in conjunction with the IRM framework, and that is the wording that we rely on.

Now I am not sure if that is different from what Mr. Stevens said; potentially, it is the same.  But I just wanted to jump in that I wasn't entirely clear if the way that it was described earlier was how we would interpret those words.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Elson, that is helpful.

Mr. Stevens, how much time do you think you need to check the evidence on the one outstanding point?

MR. STEVENS:  I believe there are two outstanding points:  One is what is incremental in relation to ALE costs, and one is in relation to the SRC funds.

MR. MORAN:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  I think probably it will take at -- we probably need at least 15 minutes to do that.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  All right.  So --


MR. STEVENS:  I will say I just want to respond to Mr. Elson's point --


MR. MORAN:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  -- just so that we are crystal clear, here.

Issue 1 is settled.  Issue 7, when resolved, ought not to impact any of the parameters of the agreed IRM, anything from A through K, that is described as issue 1.  All of the parties agreed on those things.

Issue 7 is something that is operating in conjunction with what is agreed, not to change; I don't want to get into discussions about whether it a minor difference or whether it is, in spirit, the same thing.

We agreed on A through K, as well as, then, the A and B, everything that is written at issue number 1.  And there should be no doubt about that, there should be no question about that.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I mean, obviously, we will get to the merits of the question in the hearing, anyway.  So, you know, we don't have to worry about that right now.

So 15 minutes, that will take us to 3:15.  So let's adjourn until 3:15.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:59 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:18 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Welcome back.  Turning back to Enbridge, were you able to confirm the information that you needed to go and look for?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we have thank you.  So, three quick things.  First, my colleagues tell me that I may have misspoken in response to one of your questions, so I just want to be clear.  This has to do with issue number 1, sub H, and that is the creation of new deferral and variance accounts.  And just to be clear, there is a new $3 million annual materiality threshold, or annual revenue requirement materiality threshold, but that is for creating the account.  To be clear, as the second sentence says, the $3 million is not a deadband.  In other words, once the account is established then any amounts that are recorded into it are eligible for either credit or recovery as the case may be.  It is not only amounts above the materiality threshold, it is all amounts recorded in the account.  So, just in case I misspoke before I wanted to be clear on that.

Next, you had asked about examples of incremental costs related to the asset life extension program.  And for that I would refer you to Exhibit 1, Tab 17, Schedule 1, paragraph 21.  I won't take you to it -- oh, Bonnie is taking us to it.  So, here we go.  Even better.  Essentially, the EDIMP program collects data about potentially problematic distribution pipe and the ALE process is to assess that data.  And so, there is extra work associated with assessing that data in terms of risk assessment, net present value, looking at alternatives, and those are the sorts of incremental costs that were not included in the base budget that would be eligible to be recorded in this new account.

Essentially Enbridge Gas, under this approach, will now be treating distribution pipelines or large distribution pipelines the way it has in the past dealt with transmission pipelines, and so this is net new activity.

Of course, as I said before, any amounts that are recorded into this account still have to be approved by the OEB before they are cleared.  So, questions of what is incremental in the context of the actual expenses will surely come up in future cases.

And then finally, in response to --


MR. MORAN:  Sorry.  Mr. Stevens, just before you move on I think Commissioner Elsayed has a question on the point.

MR. ELSAYED:  Not a question.  I am just trying to understand the distinction in this asset life extension plan between O&M expenditures and capital expenditures.  Obviously, expenditures that are aimed at extending the life of an asset could be either one, but it seems that the way that the particular item in the settlement proposal is written is it is limited to incremental O&M cost.

MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.

MR. ELSAYED:  So, if there are incremental capital costs identified in the asset life extension program that item in the settlement proposal does not apply?

MR. STEVENS:  That is right.  It is only O&M costs which are eligible to be recorded within this deferral account.

MS. INNIS:  On the capital side, to the extent that there is an asset life extension project that, you know, is something that -- and it is capital going forward, that would be part of the asset management planning process and it would form part of our total overall capital budget for the year.  So, that is how it would work on the capital side.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And finally, in terms of SRC, or site restoration costs, we have confirmed that the funds are segregated into a tracking account and that they are available for use in site restoration activities.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  All right.  So, that, I think, is the end of questions on the settlement proposal.  We are going to deal first with the -- with the motion.  Enbridge -- sorry, Environmental Defence had one remaining information request, that was the subject of debate this morning, requiring us to direct Enbridge to describe a number of options whereby it would be made indifferent to the number of customer connections and customer exits during the IRM term from the revenue perspective, and indicate which option it believes would be the most appropriate, should the OEB decide to implement revenue decoupling with respect to customer accounts.  So, I am just quoting from the motion.  The Panel has determined that we won't require Enbridge to describe options as requested and we will provide written reasons for this later.  We want to be crystal clear that this is not any reflection by the Panel on the merits of the issue, and we want to confirm that, in fact, the merits will be fully addressed in the oral proceeding currently scheduled for December.

On the settlement proposal, we are going to reserve our decision and we will provide that decision at a later date.  So, the last order of business is whether there is any other matters that people want to raise with us before we adjourn.  Yes, Mr. Mondrow?
Procedural Matters


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  I just wanted to note it was a very comprehensive set of questions from the hearing panel.  Which reminds us of the importance of the OEB in all of the settlement process and its presentation.  But, more specifically, I just wanted to thank Mr. Stevens and Ms. Innis for really answering your questions while honouring the rule of speaking to the settlement agreement, rather than advocating Enbridge's position.  So, a number of intervenors noted that during the day.  And I just wanted to express that appreciation.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Any other comments?

MR. STEVENS:  I just had a question, if I may, Commissioner Moran.  We do have one outstanding undertaking which, of course, we will endeavour to answer as quickly as possible.  If we were to file that by Friday, does that still fit within the approval timelines that we had in mind of an overall approval by next Tuesday?

MR. MORAN:  I think we will have to see how that plays out, Mr. Stevens.  But best efforts, as indicated.  It may not be critical to the timing of our decision in any event.  It is focusing on Phase III and, of course, the decision we have to make on the settlement proposal that relates to Phase II, so I think the two are mutually exclusive.

And I guess the last thing I want to confirm before we adjourn is that our understanding that there are no concerns with the draft rate order, and so we are obviously proceeding on that basis as part of this process.  On that note, we are adjourned.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:27 p.m.
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